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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETREHE

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively, the
“Group”), | would like to present the annual report of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2019.

Thanks to the effort of each staff member and the support
from our clients and shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”), the shares (“Shares”) of the Company was
successfully listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 11 October
2018 (“Listing Date”). The access to the capital market in Hong
Kong will increase the Group’s reputation and popularity in the
industry, and transparency to the public. It also provides the
Group with more alternative financing platforms, which is
extremely beneficial to the future business development of the
Group.

Due to the impacts of the US-China trade war, the auction
industry has entered a correction period since the second half
of 2018. The artwork market shifted toward a more stringent
and cautious buyer’'s market with fewer artworks sold at
auctions at high prices than before. However, collectors
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remained eager to purchase valuable and rare art pieces with
high bidding price, which is an acknowledgement of artworks.
Moreover, artworks have always been an investment tool of
collectors and artwork investors around the world. In this
connection, the Group rose up to the market challenges
through continuous innovation amid the hard time. For
example, during the Autumn Auction held in Hong Kong in
2018, we launched a sale for precious Pu'er tea leaves for the
first time to further expand our customer base. Since the
collection of artworks has become increasingly prevalent among
the younger people, contemporary artworks made their debut
in our Spring Auction held in Japan in 2019, with a view to
pleasing the palates of artwork enthusiast of different age
groups. These two first-ever auction sales achieved remarkable
success, which significantly boosted our confidence in launching
further sales for different categories in the future.

Moreover, in order to promptly extend our coverage in other
key regions in terms of Asian artworks, we started planning for
a joint consignments tour with our industry peers based in
Taiwan during the year ended 31 March 2019 (the “Reporting
Period”). Taiwan has always been a pivotal area of antiques
and artworks capturing a large pool of collectors and artists.
We believe that the brand of the Group will gain wider
recognition in Taiwan through this cooperation.
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Chairman'’s Statement
FREHRE

PROSPECTS

The Group has been growing since its establishment and during
the Reporting Period, it was successfully listed on the Main
Board of Stock Exchange as a pioneering corporate with
emphasis on artworks auction, expanding from Japan to the
entire Asia. The Group has strived to achieve long-term growth
at a steady pace. At present, it has established footholds in
major cities in Asia with its business extending from Tokyo to
Hong Kong and Taiwan. For the entire Asia, the Group has set
up branches and representative offices in the Greater China
region to create a strong customer network, integrate regional
resources, actively promote regional interaction, consolidate
foundation and expand operations.

In the future, the Group will aim at keeping stable growth and
development, and continuously uphold its principle of sourcing
excellent artworks with good provenance to explore and collect
more valuable artworks for art enthusiasts
auction market. At the same time, the management will also
keep an eye on the opportunities to cooperate with other

in the artwork

auction companies with a view to developing our business
more rapidly.
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APPRECIATION

At last, on behalf of the Board and the management, | would
like to express my sincere gratitude to all the staff for their
unremitting efforts during the year and to all the Shareholders,
investors, clients and business partners for their continuous
support for the Group.

Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited
Ando Shokei

Chairman

27 June 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B A RS

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Reporting Period, the Group obtained satisfactory
results in each auction session, with 7,038 (2018: 7,025) pieces
of auction lots launched in the four auctions, 3,991 (2018:
3,938) of which were successfully sold, representing a
rate of 56.7% (2018: 56.1%) and achieved an
aggregate hammer price of approximately HK$580.5 million
(2018: approximately HK$739.0 million), and total revenue of
approximately HK$166.1 million (2018: approximately HK$173.3
million). During the Group’s Hong Kong autumn auction, the
Group held its first ever tea ceremony auction session “ICHIGO
ICHIE — The Art of Tea Ceremony” (—Ei— 2 e EEXH &) to
celebrate the special occasion of the 5th anniversary of the
establishment of the Company in Hong Kong. Among the tea
auction lots, there was a cylinder of pu‘er tea, weighing 2,491

successful

grams, called “Century-old Blue Ticket Songping Pu’er Tea
Cakes” (B FEZRIESE), which was sold at a record-breaking

price of HK$11.9 million, a historic high in tea prices. In
addition, the auction also featured regular sessions for Chinese
paintings and calligraphies as well as ceramics, and one of the
Group auction lots known as “A magnificent and rare yellow
and green enamelled vase with motifs of sprigs of flowers, seal
mark and period of Yongzheng in Qing Dynasty"” (/& % IE & i 4%
TIBEE TN IE A BHIE M) was concluded at a high
hammer price of HK$40 million. Meanwhile, the Group actively
developed other new auction segments to increase the number

and sources of customers and pursue new business
opportunities. For example, there was a new session called
“Arts in Life” in the Group auction held in Tokyo in March
2019.

During the Reporting Period, the Group achieved a revenue of
approximately HK$166.1 million. The profit attributable to
owners of the Company was approximately HK$8.6 million.
Basic and diluted earnings per share were approximately
HK1.99 cents. Due to the decrease in revenue from auctions
and the increase in operating costs, particularly the expenses
for listing (the “Listing Expenses”), as well as the additional
expenses after listing and the Fair Value Loss, there was a
decrease in the Group's profitability. Excluding the Listing
Expenses and Fair Value Loss, the adjusted profit of the Group
(2018:

was approximately HK$28.0 million approximately

HK$54.8 million).
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For the sake of strengthening the long term customers
relationship, as well as further developing the artworks sourcing
network, more expenses have been incurred for these aspect
during the Reporting Period, and the management strongly
believes that such expenditure will be beneficial to the Group in
coming years.

“Promoting culture and valuing communication” has been the
philosophy of the Group. With an aim of facilitating arts and
exchanges between China and Japan, the Group
organised “Cultural Exhibition in Kyoto City Museum of Art
Annex” at Kyoto, Japan in April 2018. Besides, the Group
collaborated with Sankeisha Japan (HZ~==%L) in publishing a
hardcover edition of “Gao Mai — Collections of Painting in
Ming Dynasty by Collectors” (m# — BAREZBXRKEERE),
which compiles all premium compositions in Ming Dynasty into
a single volume for appreciation of Japanese cultural artefacts
among enthusiasts in painting and calligraphy. During the
Reporting Period, the Group published a series of collections
named “A Prime Collection in Japanese Painting and
Calligraphy” (B K £ — = & = 15 &).
received much support and assistance from Mr. Mii Masahiro
(= H#18) from Sankeisha (= =4t), Mr. Yamasita Hotai (14T
7 =) from Suifeng Club (BEE &) and Mr. Jinou (& ES) from
the Association of Chinese Calligrapher in Japan (& B &A% A £
EZRWE). In May 2018, the Group exclusively sponsored the
exhibition “Match Made in Heaven” (X{EZ &) in the 11th
International Antiques Fair in Hong Kong, which displayed
nearly 200 exquisite boxes dated from ancient to contemporary
times for art enthusiasts to appreciate. During the Reporting
Period, the Group also held a series of touring exhibitions in
major cities in the PRC, Japan and Hong Kong for marketing
the Group’s auctions. Such exhibitions also further establish the
Group’s reputation over different regions and expand its
customer base.

cultural

The two volumes

FUTURE PLAN

In the coming future, we shall further diversify our auction
items into various categories such as contemporary artworks
from different artists, world-class and limited wine from China,
Japan and other European countries, as well as precious jewelry
and luxuries. In order to expedite such expansion, we shall
keep looking for apposite business partners for collaboration in
auction events. Meanwhile, the Board will also consider to
make strategic investments in artworks related business, which
can help us to achieve synergies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
IR R M T

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the Reporting Period, the revenue of the Group was
approximately HK$166.1 million (2018: HK$173.3 million),
which represents a decrease of approximately HK$7.2 million or
4.1% as compared with 2018. Revenue from art auction and
related business was approximately HK$146.9 million (2018:
HK$164.6 million) while revenue from artwork sales was
approximately HK$19.2 million (2018: HK$8.7 million). The
decrease in revenue from art auction and related business was
mainly caused by the decrease in hammer price of the auction
items, given the average hammer
approximately HK$188,000, and it was approximately
HK$145,000 during the Reporting Period. The increase in
revenue from artwork sales was mainly due to the selling prices
of the artwork sold during the Reporting Period were higher
than those in 2018.

price last year was

Gross Profit

During the Reporting Period, gross profit of the Group
decreased by approximately HK$6.1 46% to
approximately HK$126.2 million (2018: approximately HK$132.3
million) as compared with 2018, which is in line with the
decrease in revenue. The overall gross profit margin for the
Reporting Period was approximately 76.0% which was stable
when comparing with 76.4% in 2018. The gross profit margins
were approximately 76.4% (2018: 80.1%) and approximately
72.7% (2018: 6.0%) for art auction and related business and
artwork sales respectively. The substantial increase of the gross
profit margin in artwork sales was due to the upward trend of
the values of similar art pieces.

million or

Other losses, net

Other losses, net mainly comprise the changes in fair value of
convertible notes, exchange gain/loss, net loss on disposal of
property, plant and equipment, and changes in cash surrender
values of key management life insurance contracts. Other losses
of the Group during the Reporting Period was approximately
HK$4.0 million (2018: approximately HK$400,000). The increase
in other losses for the Reporting Period was approximately
HK$3.6 million, when compared to 2018. The increase was
primarily attributable to the changes in fair value of convertible
notes which amounted to approximately HK$4.1 million (2018:
Nil).
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Other income

Other income of the Group during the Reporting Period was
approximately HK$1.8 million (2018: approximately HK$2.6
million).

Other income decreased by approximately HK$0.8 million as
compared with 2018. The decrease is primarily attributable to
the decrease handling fees charged to
customers during auctions held in Japan.

in  miscellaneous

Net impairment losses on financial assets
Net impairment
increase in loss allowance recognised in respect of the trade
receivables following the adoption of HKFRS 9 during the
Reporting Period. During the Reporting Period, approximately
HK$1.2 million of such losses were incurred (2018: Nil).

losses on financial assets represents the

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses increased by approximately
HK$14.9 million to HK$41.7 million for the Reporting Period
(2018: Such
mainly caused by the (i) increase in employee benefit expenses
of approximately HK$1.3 million due to general salary inflation
and more staff members hired, (i) increase in transportation
costs of approximately HK$1.6 million as more transportation
services had been consumed (iii) aggregate increase in business
hospitality, entertainment expenses and travelling expenses of
approximately HK$5.8 million, which resulted from providing
better customer services and expanding customers network, (iv)
increase in consulting fee of approximately HK$2.5 million
because of engaging additional experts for authentication
and (v) increase in other general expenses for
marketing activities.

approximately HK$26.8 million). increase was

process,
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Management Discussion and Analysis
IR R M T

Administrative expenses

During the Reporting Period, administrative expenses increased
by approximately HK$16.6 million or 33.5% to approximately
HK$66.1 million (2018: approximately HK$49.5 million). The
increase was primarily due to the (i) increase in employee
benefit expenses of approximately HK$6.4 million because of
new staff members hired and the increased staff salaries and
bonus under annual salary review scheme, (ii) increase in
operating
approximately HK$1.6 million for the new office rented in Hong
Kong, (iii) increase in Listing Expenses and related expenses of
approximately HK$5.6 million associated with our listing, and
(iv) increase remuneration and professional
expenses of approximately HK$3.4 million, and such services
were only carried out after listing.

lease rentals in respect of rented premises of

in auditor’s

Finance income, net
Net finance
amounted to approximately HK$310,000 and it was a cost of
approximately HK$239,000 in 2018. The net income mainly
represents the
approximately HK$582,000, which was offset by the interest
expenses on finance lease liabilities and interest expenses on
bank and other borrowings.

income recorded for the Reporting Period

interest income from bank deposit of

Income tax expenses

During the Reporting Period, income tax expenses decreased by
approximately HK$7.4 million, to HK$6.7 million (2018:
approximately HK$14.1 million). The saving in income tax
expenses was attributable to the decrease in profit before
income tax. Effective tax rate* was approximately 19.3%
(2018: 20.4%) for the Reporting Period and no significant
fluctuation was noted.

* Effective tax rate was calculated by income tax expenses divided
by profit before income tax excluding the Listing Expenses and
Fair Value Loss.

12
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Profit attributable to owners of the Company

Due to the drop in the total hammer price for the Reporting
Period, which was mainly affected by the unpredictability in the
market demand,
development of art auction market in general, and upsurge in
the operating costs and additional one-off expenses such as
Listing Expenses and Fair Value Loss, the profit attributable to
owners of the Company decreased by approximately HK$35.5
million or 80.5%, to HK$8.6 million (2018: approximately
HK$44.1 million). If the one-off listing expenses and Fair Value
Loss is not taken into account, the adjusted profit attributable
to owners of the Company for the Reporting Period was
approximately HK$28.0 million (2018: approximately HK$54.9
million).

value and conditions for artworks and

Financial position and liquidity

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated resources, banking facilities and net proceed from
the listing. As at 31 March 2019, the Group had net current
assets of approximately HK$276.8 million (2018: approximately
HK$92.7 million) while the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$236.5 million (2018:
approximately HK$70.4 million). As at 31 March 2019, the
Group had interest-bearing bank borrowings of approximately
HK$35.0 million and of which approximately HK$32.4 million
was repayable within one year. As at 31 March 2019, the
Group had finance lease liabilities of approximately HK$0.8
million and of which approximately HK$0.4 million was
repayable within one year.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group's net gearing ratio was
calculated on the basis of the amount of interest-bearing
borrowings
shareholders’ equity, and the Group was in net cash position
(2018: net cash).

less cash and cash equivalents divided by

Capital commitments
As at 31 March 2019, the Group had no any material capital
commitment (as at 31 March 2018: Nil).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2019, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (as at 31 March 2018: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEE W S DT

Material Acquisitions and Disposal of Subsidiaries and
Associated Companies

Save for the reorganisation of the Group for the purpose of the
listing as set out in the section headed “History, Reorganization
and Corporate Structure — The Reorganization” in the prospectus
of the Company dated 27 September 2018 (“Prospectus”), there
were no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or
associated companies of the Company during the Reporting
Period.

Treasury Policies

The Group adopted a prudent strategy towards the treasury
and funding policies, with strong emphasis on risk control and
transactions directly related to the Group’s principal business.
Funds, primarily denominated in Japanese Yen and Hong Kong
dollars, are normally placed with banks in short or medium
term deposits for working capital of the Group.

Capital Structure and foreign currency exposure

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s operation was mainly
financed by funds generated from its operation, borrowings
and net proceeds from the listing. As at 31 March 2019, the
borrowings were mainly denominated in Japanese Yen, while
the cash and cash equivalents held by the Group were mainly
denominated in Japanese Yen and Hong Kong dollars. All of
the Group’s borrowings were floating rate borrowings and were
pledged by bank deposits of approximately HK$20.3 million to
secure such bank facilities during the Reporting Period. The
Group’s revenue is mainly denominated in Japanese Yen and
Hong Kong dollars, while its costs and expenses are mainly
denominated in Japanese Yen and Hong Kong dollars. As
majority portion of the Group’s assets, liabilities, revenues and
payments during the Reporting Period were denominated in
either Japanese Yen or Hong Kong dollars, the Group does not
have a formal foreign currency hedging policy or conducts
hedging exercise to reduce its foreign currency exposure.
However, in view of the prevailing macro-economic
environment, the Group may be exposed to the foreign
exchange rate risk. The Group will closely monitor the volatility
of foreign exchange rate and apply the appropriate hedging
strategy as and when appropriate.
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Charge on assets

As at 31 March 2019, bank deposits amounting to HK$20.3
million (2018: Nil) was pledged to a bank to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group.

Other than the aforesaid pledged bank deposits, there was no
other charge on assets of the Group as at 31 March 2019.

Employees and Emolument Policy

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had 23, 15, 3 and 1 fulltime
staff based Hong Kong, Taiwan and the PRC
respectively. The Group’s remuneration packages are generally

in Japan,

structured with reference to market terms and individual merits.
The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefits
scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for all of
its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employees’ base salaries. The Group also
made contributions to provident funds, elderly insurance,
medical insurance, unemployment insurance and work-related
injury
regulations in Japan, Taiwan and the PRC respectively. The
Group has adopted a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and
including the employees of the Group, for their contribution to

insurance in accordance with applicable laws and

rewards to eligible participants,

the Group. No share options have been granted since the
Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREERBHERERS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Ando Shokei (ZEHi#E) (alias Liao Xianggui (EH#)),
aged 51

Executive Director and chairman of our Board

Mr. Ando is an executive Director and chairman of the Board,
and is responsible for overall strategic development, and
leading the business development of the Group. He was
appointed as a Director on 11 July 2013 and re-designated as
executive Director on 25 May 2018. Mr. Ando is the founder of
the Group. He has over 10 years of experience in operation
and management in the business of artwork trading and over
seven years of experience in operation and management of
auction. He joined the Group in November 2010 as a director
of Tokyo Chuo Auction Co., Ltd.* (A EHRRFRF—T >
32) ("TCA Japan”), a directly non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company in Japan. Mr. Ando is also a director of Bai
Sheng Co., Ltd.* (¥ =X & # B B) (“Bai Sheng”) since
September 2002, where he acquired knowledge in artworks
through artwork trading businesses, gained his experience in
daily company operations management, businesses development
promotion and development strategies planning, and started to
develop his business relationship with artwork artists, masters,
experts, merchants and collectors. Prior to working at Bai
Sheng, Mr. Ando worked at Orient Co., Ltd.* (kX&) T
> IN), a trading company in arts and crafts and home furniture
import and export, from 1995 to 2001 as general manager. He
obtained a bachelor’'s degree in economics from Dokkyo
University in March 1994. Mr. Ando is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Ando is the spouse of Mrs. Ando
Eri. Mr. Ando has an interest in such number of Shares under
Part XV of the SFO as disclosed in the section headed “Report
of the Directors — Directors’ and chief executive's interests and
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations” of this
annual report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mrs. Ando Eri (ZiEEHE) (alias Feng Huijin (/52#)), aged
41

Executive Director and vice chairlady of the Board

Mrs. Ando is an executive Director and vice chairlady of the
Board, and is responsible for client management, promotion of
branding and marketing of the Group. She was appointed as
an executive Director on 25 May 2018. She has over six years
of experience in operation and management of auction. Mrs.
Ando joined the Group in January 2011 as a managing
director, and she was involved in establishing and managing
client relationships. She was promoted to become a director of
the board of TCA Japan in December 2011, and since then she
has been principally responsible for conducting marketing
events, overseeing and reviewing the auction catalogs and
media publications, as well as the overall management of
auctions held by the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mrs.
Ando worked at a catering company in the PRC, from 2000 to
2005 as general manager, responsible for overall management
and operations of such company. She completed a course in
foreign secretary at the Adult Higher Education, School of
Continuing Education, Shanghai Jiao Tong University* (_F/8%2
BARERAKE) in July 2000. Mrs. Ando is also a director of
TCA Japan. Mrs. Ando is the spouse of Mr. Ando Shokei. Mrs.
Ando has an interest in such number of Shares under Part XV
of the SFO as disclosed in the section headed “Report of the
Directors — Directors’ and chief executive's interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations” of this annual
report.

Mr. Katsu Bunkai (B X /) (alias Ge Wenhai), aged 49
Executive Director and chief operating officer of the Group

Mr. Katsu is an executive Director and chief operating officer of
the Group, and is responsible for the overall operational
management of the Group. He was appointed as an executive
Director on 25 May 2018. Mr. Katsu has over six years of
experience in operation in the business of artwork trading and
over six years of experience in operation and management of
auction. Mr. Katsu joined the Group and was appointed as a
director and vice-president of TCA Japan since February 2012,
and since then he has been principally responsible for the
planning and supervising auctions of the Group, including
managing auction logistics and different working parties such as
decoration companies, security and staff of different
departments of the Group during auctions. He is also involved
in overall strategic development and management of the
Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Katsu was also the sales
manager of Bai Sheng, responsible for artworks purchase and
sales and operations management, from April 2010 to October
2015. He obtained a master’s degree in business administration
from Kanto Gakuin University in March 2008.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EEZhafEREENREFNE

Mr. Sun Hongyue (¥ A), aged 54

Executive Director

Mr. Sun is an executive Director, and is responsible for overall
business development of the Group. He was appointed as an
executive Director on 25 May 2018. Mr. Sun has over 30 years
of experience in artwork trading and over 23 years of
experience in auction. Mr. Sun joined the Group in December
2015. He has been the general manager of the calligraphy and
painting department of TCA Japan since December 2015,
during which he was involved in authenticating artworks for
visiting consignors and approaching potential
consignors for auction of artworks, and providing consultation
to potential bidders and buyers of artwork.

auction,

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Sun worked at Beijing Hanhai
Auction Co., Ltd.* (Ut =& /BIE AR A 7l), an auction
company, from 1994 to 2015 and gained his experience in
calligraphy and painting, auction and artwork trading. Prior to
such, Mr. Sun worked at Beijing Antique Company* (1t R X
Y12 a]) from 1984 to 1994 and was mainly responsible for
sourcing and sale of artworks. He was an apprentice of Mr. Qin
Gong (F72), a renowned Chinese stone rubbing calligraphy
expert, and trained his skills of authentication and valuation of
paintings and calligraphies at Qing Yun Tang (EE%), a
reputable store in Beijing engaging in the sale of Chinese
calligraphies from 1984 to 1994. In 1986, Mr. Sun completed a
course in cultural relics authentication and valuation organized
by State Administration of Cultural Heritage of PRC (FFE B R
X ¥ /@) in Xi‘an, Shaanxi province, the PRC. During 1989 to
1991, he completed a three year program in museology at a
sub-school of Peking University.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Yau Chung Hang (EBf#3%;), aged 46

Executive Director and chief financial officer of the Group

Mr. Yau is an executive Director and chief financial officer of
the Group, and is responsible for overall financial management
of the Group. He was appointed as an executive Director on
25 May 2018. Mr. Yau has over 20 years of experience in
accounting and financial management. Mr. Yau joined the
Group in January 2018. Mr. Yau has been the independent
non-executive director of Wang Yang Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1735) since March 2018, the independent non-
executive director of Shuang Yun Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1706) since October 2017. Mr. Yau had also been working for
four companies listed on either the Main Board or GEM Board
of the Stock Exchange during 2002 to 2017. Mr. Yau has
acquired auditing and accounting experiences by working in
various accountancy firms during June 1995 to May 2000. Mr.
Yau is a non-practicing member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. He obtained a higher diploma
certificate in accountancy from the City University of Hong
Kong in November 1995 and a bachelor's degree of arts in
accountancy from University of Bolton (long distance learning
course) in August 2005.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EEZhafEREENREFNE

Non-executive Director

Mr. Yang Yi Chung (#54§8), aged 50 (resigned on 14 May
2019)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Yang is a non-executive Director. He was appointed as a
non-executive director on 25 May 2018. Mr. Yang has over five
years of experience in operation and management. He is a
director of Grassland Finance Limited since January 2014,
which principally engages in lending to micro, small and
medium enterprises in the PRC. He served as the chief
executive officer of Grassland Finance Limited from February
2014 to August 2015. Mr. Yang is the co-managing director of
Sagamore China Partners, which principally engages in
investment management of private equity funds and direct
investments in China. He is the sole director of Sagamore
China GP Il Limited since May 2012, the sole general partner
of an exempted limited partnership. Furthermore, Mr. Yang is
also a director of Cobalt Fashion Holding Limited since
September 2017, a holding company in vertical integrated
knitwear supply. He is a director of South Ocean Knitters
Limited, which principally engages in vertically integrated
knitwear supply, 1997. He obtained a
bachelor’s degree in science from lllinois State University in May
1988 and a master’s degree in science from Stanford University
in June 1989.

since November
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (£ i), aged 50

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Chung is an independent non-executive Director. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
13 September 2018. Mr.
experience in auditing, corporate finance and financial
management. Mr. Chung was an auditor in Arthur Andersen
(an international accounting firm) from 1992 to 1999. From
2000, Mr. Chung has held several senior management positions
including chief financial officer, executive director and
independent non-executive director in a number of listed
companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Chung is presently a vice
president of Yongsheng Advanced Materials Company Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 3608) since February 2018. Mr. Chung has been
the independent non-executive director of Zhengye International
Holdings Company Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3363) since March
2011, the independent non-executive director of BYD Electronic
(International) Company Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 285) since June
2013, the independent non-executive director of On Time
Logistics Holdings Limited (currently known as YTO Express
(International) Holdings Limited), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6123)
December 2017, and the independent non-executive director of
B&S International Holdings Ltd, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1705) since February
2018.

Chung has over 20 vyears of

since

Mr. Chung obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from
Macquarie University in April 1992. He was admitted as a
certified practicing accountant of the Australian Society of
Certified Practicing Accountants (currently known as CPA
Australia) in November 1995 and an associate of the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants (currently known as the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants) in February
1996. He is currently a non-practicing member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EEZhafEREENREFNE

Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley (#i##), aged 52

Independent non-executive Director

Ms. Lam is an independent non-executive Director. She was
independent non-executive Director on
13 September 2018. Ms. Lam has over 20 years of experience
in auditing, accounting and financial management. Ms. Lam has
of Chinlink
International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of Stock Exchange (stock code: 997), since February

appointed as an

been appointed as an executive director

2012 and also its chief financial officer and company secretary
since January 2012. She was the executive director of Jackin
International Holdings Limited (currently known as AMCO
United Holding Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of
Stock Exchange (stock code: 630) from February 2010 to
December 2011, the financial controller of AMVIG Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2300) from July 2007 to March 2010.
Ms. Lam held several management position in private
companies, including vice president of finance and accounting
manager, between June 1999 to February 2006 and between
July 2006 to March 2007. She also held position in various
international audit firms between May 1993 and April 1999.

Ms. Lam obtained a bachelor’s degree in science from Murdoch
University in February 1993 and a master’s degree in business
administration from the University of Adelaide in April 2006.
She was admitted as a certified practising accountant of the
Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants (currently
known as CPA Australia) in November 1995 and an associate of
the Hong Kong Society of Accountants (currently known as the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants) in
September 1996. She is currently a non-practicing member of
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Chun Chi Man (%F;8E), aged 59

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Chun is an independent non-executive Director. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
13 September 2018. Mr. Chun has over 20 years of experience
in property industry in PRC and Hong Kong. Mr. Chun has
been the General Manager (Leasing) of Century Link from
March 2015 to December 2016, the General Manager —
commercial of The Hub at Hong Qiao from January 2014 to
November 2014, the General Manager of L Development &
Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. from September 2010 to
December 2013, the Deputy General Manager of Lai Fung
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1125) from September 2007 to July
2010. Mr. Chun held various managerial positions at Hutchison
Whampoa Properties Limited from July 1995 to July 2005. Mr.
Chun obtained a bachelor’'s degree of Science from University
of Salford at July 1987. He is a member of Shanghai
Chongming District Committee (Consultative Conference).

Senior management

Mr. Chen Jian (FR &), 45

Artwork management manager of our Group

Mr. Chen is the artwork management manager of the Group.
He joined our Group in June 2012. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Chen worked at the marketing department in a state-
owned company in the PRC, responsible for conducting market
research and formulating marketing strategies. Mr. Chen
completed a course in applied science from Qingdao Institute of
Chemical Industry* (& &1t T 2BT) (now known as Qingdao
University of Science & Technology* (& &R A E)) in July
1996 and a bachelor’s degree in international economy from
Higashi Nippon International University in March 2005. He
further obtained a master’'s degree in international business
from Kanto Gakuin University in March 2008.
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Mr. Koizumi Jumpei (/MR EF), 29

Tea wares and Chinese ceramics artwork manager of our
Group

Mr. Koizumi is the tea wares and Chinese ceramics artwork
manager of the Group. He joined the Group in April 2013. He
has over five years of experience in artworks management.
Prior to joining the Group, from April 2011 to March 2013, Mr.
Koizumi assisted his family in running Koizumi Ancient Art,
Kyoto* (S #B & E1i7/\3R), an antique shop with over 15 years
of operation in selling antiques including teawares, and
acquired knowledge and experience in authentication and
valuation of Japanese and non-Japanese teawares through
purchasing and selling teawares and exchanging views on
authentication and valuation of teawares with teaware experts.
Since joining our Group in 2013, through application of the
experiences in teawares previously accumulated during his days
in Koizumi Ancient Art, Kyoto* (&8 & E17/NR) and frequent
participation in our auctions, Mr. Koizumi further enriched his
experience in valuation of artworks by reviewing the appraisal
and auction results of multiple artworks and exchanging views
on market price and industry trend of the artworks with other
artwork experts. Mr. Koizumi obtained a bachelor’s degree in
biology-oriented business and technology from Kindai University
in March 2011.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Wong Chi Ming (&), 38

General manager of our Group

Mr. Wong is the general manager of the Group. He joined the
Group in June 2014. Mr. Wong has been the operation and
administration manager of Tiancheng International Auctioneer
Limited from June 2011
assistant manager of Seoul Auction Hong Kong Limited from
May 2009 to May 2011, the operations and administration
officer of Christie’s Hong Kong Limited from August 2004 to
October 2006, and the assistant taxation officer of the Inland
Revenue Department from July 2003 to August 2004. Mr.
Wong completed the professional exhibition management

to June 2014. He was also the

course (long distance learning course) at Singapore Association
of Convention & Exhibition Organizers & Suppliers in June
2006 and a bachelor’s degree in business administration from
Lingnan University in November 2002.

Company secretary

The company secretary of the Company is Mr. Yau Chung
Hang. He is employed by the Company on a full-time basis.
Please refer to his biographical details in the subsection headed
"— Board of Directors — Executive Directors” above.
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EERERBE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The board of directors (the
committed to maintaining good corporate governance
standards.

“Board”) of the Company is

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards
are essential in providing a framework for the Group to
safeguard the interests of shareholders,
its business strategies and policies,
enhance its transparency and accountability.

enhance corporate

value, formulate and

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and code provisions as set out in the Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules.

The Board is of the view that for the period from the Listing
Date and up to 31 March 2019, the Company has complied
with all the code provisions as set out in the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Directors’ transactions in securities of the Company (the
“Company’'s Code”) on terms no less exacting than the
required standard as set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)

as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors and all the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
Model Code and the Company’s Code for the period from the
Listing Date and up to 31 March 2019.

The Company has also extended the coverage of the Model
Code adoption to the senior management of the Company
who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside
information of the Company (the “relevant employees”). No
incident of noncompliance of the Model Code by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company for the period from the
Listing Date and up to 31 March 2019.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the
best interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required
from a Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company,
and whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing
them.

BOARD COMPOSITION
The Board of the Company currently comprises the following
Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ando Shokei (Chairman of the Board and Chairman of
Nomination Committee, and member of Corporate
Governance Committee)

Mrs. Ando Eri (Member of Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Katsu Bunkai

Mr. Sun Hongyue

Mr. Yau Chung Hang (Company Secretary)

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Yang Yi Chung (Resigned on 14 May 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (Chairman of Remuneration
Committee, and member of Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee)

Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley (Chairman of Audit Committee, and
member of Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee
and Corporate Governance Committee)

Mr. Chun Chi Man (Chairman of Corporate Governance
Committee, and member of Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee)

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 16 to 25 of this annual report.

Other than the spousal relationship between Mr. Ando Shokei

and Mrs. Ando Eri, none of the members of the Board is
related to one another.

EEPRHEERERAFAZF—AFFERS

Corporate Governance Report
rEERRE

ESE

EFREEAEEAMNES  HHIORERR
B WEEBIELFEARRRASERFEOR
% o

EEeRENRASETAARREITREM
FENHENER UNEARESESNHENE
RETRE

EETAX
ARATEE G BT EEARK

BITESE
CHRERE (EFELERIEEZEELE
RIEFEERZEEHER)

ﬁa\,uf@ﬁi( 5 B &=
BRI/ RASEE
BB R HT S 4 (22 Al i &)

cEEgHKR)

FERITESE
5 4 B8 SE & (R20194E5 5 144 B (F)
BIAFEHITES

ﬁl‘tf‘ﬁi( ,@W%é’ §->

MBE XL (FEZEeLERFWNEZEE
EEZRERIPXEALZREKR)

RORAEE(ERELZREE
2 HHWZEERIEAZREEMR)

EFEEEENHENAFRFICE2BEMIES
EEfEEEBNERFIS] —& -

BRRBAEEERTBEREL T REEBHEE
Sh - ERE K BRI 2 S A ] B

27



Corporate Governance Report
hEELARSE

Chairman
The position of Chairman is held by Mr. Ando Shokei, who
provides leadership and is responsible for the effective

functioning and leadership of the Board.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive directors representing
one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of
his/her independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

TERM OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service contract
with the Company on 13 September 2018 and the Company
issued letters of appointment to each of the non-executive
Director and independent non-executive Directors on the same
day. The principal particulars of these service contracts and
letters of appointment are (i) for a term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date, (i) subject to
termination by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other. The term of the service

and

contracts and the letters of appointment may be renewed
subject to the provisions of the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles”) and the applicable Listing Rules.

The Articles provides that all Directors appointed to fill a casual

vacancy shall be subject to election by Shareholders at the first
general meeting of the Company after appointment.
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Under the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-third
of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation. The retiring Directors
shall be eligible for re-election.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company, and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down
strategies and overseeing their implementation, monitors the
Group’'s operational and financial performance, and ensures
that sound internal control and risk management systems are in
place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the
Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing
effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances for discharging
their duties to the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of
the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the
management.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of
his appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of
Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors
would be arranged and reading materials on relevant topics
would be provided to Directors where appropriate.

The record of continuous professional development relating to
director’s duties and regulatory and business development that
have been received by the Directors during the Reporting
Period and up to date of this annual report are summarized as
follows:
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Directors S Type of training
R
(Note)
(B %)
Executive Directors BITESE
Mr. Ando Shokei THEMELE A&B
Mrs. Ando Eri THEELZ T A&B
Mr. Katsu Bunkai EXBELE A&B
Mr. Sun Hongyue B A k% A&B
Mr. Yau Chung Hang B e BT 5 A A&B
Non-Executive Director FPHITES
Mr. Yang Yi Chung (Resigned on 14 May 2019) 15 # 82 % 4 (FA20194 58148 B 1T) A&B
Independent Non-executive Directors BIAKHITESE
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John EE LA A&B
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley MO 22 & A&B
Mr. Chun Chi Man FARAREAE A&B
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Note:

Types of Training

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines
and relevant publications

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee
and Corporate Governance Committee, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with specific written terms of
reference which deal clearly with their authority and duties. The
terms of reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance
Committee are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website and are available to Shareholders upon
request.

The list of the chairman and members of each Board
committee is set out under
to 28.

“Board Composition” on pages 27

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors namely Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley (chairlady),
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John and and Mr. Chun Chi Man.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The duties
of the Audit Committee include, without limitation, (a) making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor,
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or
dismissal; (b) monitoring the
statements and annual report and accounts, and the interim
report, and reviewing significant financial reporting judgments
contained therein;
management and internal control systems; and (d) developing
and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board.

and to

integrity of the financial

() reviewing the financial control, risk
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The Audit Committee held two meetings to review, in respect
of the period from the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2019,
the interim and annual reports and
significant issues on the financial reporting, operational and
compliance controls, the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal systems and audit function,
engagement of non-audit services and relevant scope of works,
and arrangements for employees to raise concerns about
possible improprieties.

financial results and

control internal

The Audit Committee also met the external auditor once
without the presence of the executive Directors. There is no
disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
regarding the appointment of external auditor.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John
(chairman), Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley and Mr. Chun Chi Man,
one non-executive Director namely Mr. Yang Yi Chung
(resigned on 14 May 2019) and one executive Director namely
Mrs. Ando Eri.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of
no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include (a)
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’'s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management
and establishing a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy; (b) reviewing and approving
the management’s remuneration proposal with reference to the
Board’'s corporate goals and objectives; (c) making
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration
packages of individual Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the period from
the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2019 to review and make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy and
the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management.
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Details of the annual remuneration of the members of the
senior management by band for the year under review are set
out below:

Corporate Governance Report
rEERRE

REBFERARNSINEREEEREF
EHMFRBmT

Number of
Remuneration band (HKS$) individuals
B4R B (B JT) AE
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000/ 7T LA ™ 3

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the Reporting
Period are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director,
namely Mr. Ando Shokei (chairman), three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John, Ms. Lam
Suk Ling Shirley and Mr. Chun Chi Man and one non-executive
Director namely Mr. Yang Yi Chung (resigned on 14 May
2019).

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
principal duties of the Nomination Committee include, without
limitation, (a) reviewing the structure,
(including without limitation, gender, age,
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service) of the Board at least
annually and making

changes to the Board to complement the corporate strategy; (b)

size and diversity

cultural and

recommendations on any proposed

identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of
the Board and selecting or making recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals
directorships; (c) assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors; and (d) making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-

nominated for

appointment of the Directors and succession planning for the
Directors, in particular the chairman.
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In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity policy. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the
Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for
adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for
directorships, the Nomination Committee would consider the
candidate’s character, qualifications, experience, independence
and other relevant criteria necessary to complement the
corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity,
appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

where

The Nomination Committee met once during the period from
the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2019 to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and
to consider the qualifications of the retiring Directors standing
for re-election at the annual general meeting and to consider
and recommend to the Board on the appointment of Directors.

Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chun Chi
Man (Chairman), Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John and Ms. Lam Suk
Ling Shirley, one executive Director, namely Mr. Ando Shokei
(chairman), and one non-executive Director namely Mr. Yang Vi
Chung (resigned on 14 May 2019).

34

RAEEFTSHENE  REZEE/HERAR
AEFEZTBRAMENZEIENAKRE
SZTEEEREZ - RRZE el miE#
TEHEFEZ UM AEERR(HLE) YL
AEEGHERIAFRS -

EMErBREAENEFREAR RERRE
ERERNESTSRUEERZZNE BEEA
Wmig BE & BUENRES QAR
RLEHEETEXEZTIEMEELENE
AR E R (R EA) ©

R ETHEEEZE2019F3A31HHM 24
ZESRTT—REFZ URITIESFEHRE
B ABKREK  UWEBIYERTEENE L
M WEMRAREAFAS LREERNES
WERKERRNESSHBITESNZE
£

tEELREEE
TEEREEERE-RBIUENTES A
RARKE(ER) SRR EERMBRE L
T —R2RTES ALEEEEE(ER)K
—HIERITEEGHEIR L E (R2019F5A14H
BE{T) o

TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2019



The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance
Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out in
the CG Code. The principal duties of the Corporate Governance
Committee include, without limitation, (a) to develop and
review the Group’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and to make recommendations to the Board; (b) to
review and approve the annual corporate governance report
and related disclosures in the annual and interim reports of the
Group and ensuring compliance with relevant requirements
under the Listing Rules or the rules of any other stock
exchange in respect of which the securities of the Company are
listed or quoted, or other laws, regulations, rules and codes as
may be applicable to the Group; (c) to develop and formalise
the functions reserved to the Board and those to be delegated
by the Board to the management of the Group, and to review
those arrangements on a periodic basis to ensure that they
remain appropriate to the needs of the Group; and (d) to make
sure that appropriate monitoring systems are in place to ensure
compliance against the relevant internal controls systems,
processes and policies, and in particular to monitor the
implementation of the Group’s plans to maintain high
compliance with its own risk management standards.

The Corporate Governance Committee met once during the
period from the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2019 to
introduce and propose relevant principles concerning corporate
governance and to review and determine the corporate
governance policy.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets
out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The
Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive
advantage.
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the Nomination
size and
make

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy,
Committee will
composition of the Board and where appropriate,

review annually the structure,

recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the Board
In relation to reviewing
the Nomination

maintains a balanced diverse profile.
and assessing the Board composition,
Committee is committed to diversity at all levels and will
including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional and
experience.

consider a number of aspects,

industry

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s
business growth and is also committed to ensuring that
recruitment and selection practices at all levels (from the Board
downwards) are appropriately structured so that a diverse range
of candidates are considered.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to
implement the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives
from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain
the progress made towards achieving those objectives.

At present, the Nomination Committee considered that the
Board is sufficiently diverse and the Board has not set any

measurable objectives.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (the
“Director Nomination Policy”) on 31 December 2018 which sets
out the selection criteria and process and the Board succession
planning considerations in
appointment of Directors and aims to ensure that the Board has
a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company and the continuity of the Board
and appropriate leadership at Board level.

relation to nomination and

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for
assessing the suitability and the potential contribution to the
Board of a proposed candidate, including but not limited to the
following:

character and integrity;

o qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

o diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age (18 years or above),
background, ethnicity, professional
knowledge and length of service;

and educational
skills,

cultural
experience,

o requirements of independent non-executive Directors on
the Board and independence of the proposed
independent non-executive Directors in accordance with
the Listing Rules; and

o commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest to discharge duties as a member of the Board
and/or Board committee(s) of the Company.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures
and process for the selection and appointment of new Directors
and re-election of Directors at general meetings. During the
period from the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2019, the
Nomination Committee adhered to the following nomination
procedures and the process set out in the Director Nomination
Policy to select and recommend candidates for directorship:
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(a)

Appointment of new Director

Upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new

Director and the biographical information (or
relevant details) of the candidate, the Nomination
Committee should, evaluate such candidate based on
the criteria as set out above to determine whether

such candidate is qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate
(where applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate
for directorship, as applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder
for election as a Director at the general meeting of
the Company, the Nomination Committee should
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set
out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/
or the Board should make
Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of
Director at the general meeting.

recommendation to

(b) Re-election of Director at General Meeting

38

The Nomination Committee should review the overall
contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring Director and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.

The Nomination Committee should also review and
determine whether the retiring Director continues to
meet the criteria as set out above.
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ii.  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
then make recommendation to shareholders in
respect of the proposed re-election of Director at the
general meeting.

The Nomination Committee will review the Director
Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its

effectiveness.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the period from the Listing Date and up to 31 March
2019, the Board had reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model
Code and the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a
year involving active participation, either in person or through
electronic means of communication, of a majority of Directors.
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The attendance record of each Director at these meetings is set

out in the table below:

TREINZES

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HERY, ERERY
Corporate
Audit Remuneration Nomination  Governance
Name of director Board Committee Committee Committee Committee
¥
EEME EEg EBRZEEE HWNZEE5E ReFTEE EihZEg
Mr. Ando Shokei 717 N/A N/A 171 171
TREMERE T iE A ANiE A
Mrs. Ando Eri 717 N/A 11 N/A N/A
THEBZ L AiE A i A TiE A
Mr. Katsu Bunkai 717 N/A N/A N/A N/A
EX8EAE iE A i A i A TEA
Mr. Sun Hongyue 717 N/A N/A N/A N/A
BBARTE T iE A T iE H T iE H N iE A
Mr. Yau Chung Hang 717 N/A N/A N/A N/A
ER {0 37 % & AiE A i A i A TiE A
Mr. Yang Yi Chung
(Resigned on 14 May 2019) 6/7 N/A 0/1 0/1 0/1
1548 % & (201965 A 148 BHT) TR
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John 717 2/2 1/1 11 11
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley 717 2/2 m” 171 171
ORI Lt
Mr. Chun Chi Man 717 2/2 171 1/1 171
RAREHE
RISK MANAGEMENT [ b & 32
The Board is also responsible for evaluating and determining ZEEZ€ N EBEFHIEFHABTHR AR AR

the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that
the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and

effective risk management system.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has reviewed the risk

R|EME - AEECEHRE

BREFRSEEAENRARNMEE KRR @ i
RARBRIMBRFEELBERNEREE
B E o

REEHE - &

management system. The Board considers that the risk FERE RREENEHASEEREmMS

management system is effective and adequate for the Group as

a whole.
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The Board further considers that (i) there was no issue relating
to the material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions, of the
Group; and (ii) that there were adequate staff with appropriate
qualifications and experience, resources and budget of its
accounting and financial reporting function, and adequate
training programmes have been provided for the Reporting
Period.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for the internal control of the Group
and for reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have been
designed to ensure maintenance of proper accounting records
for the provision of reliable financial information for internal
use or for publication, ensure compliance of applicable laws,
rules and regulations. The Group has an internal audit
department primarily responsible for reviewing the internal

control function of the Group.

The risk management and internal control systems are reviewed
and assessed on an on-going basis by the Audit Committee and
the Board, and will be further reviewed and assessed at least
once each year by the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has appointed RSM
Consulting (Hong Kong) Limited (“RSM”) to review the internal
control system. Improvements in internal control and risk
management measures as recommended were adopted. Based
on the findings from RSM, the Board considers that the internal
control system is effective and adequate for the Group as a
whole.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
Reporting Period.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties

relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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The statement of the independent auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 67 to 73.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION OF THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Reference is made to the non-competition undertakings given
by Mr. Ando Shokei in favour of the Company disclosed in the
Prospectus. Mr. Ando has confirmed to the Company that he
has complied with the non-competition undertakings during the
period from the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2019. The
independent non-executive Directors have conducted such
review for the vyear, and also reviewed the relevant
undertakings and are satisfied that such undertakings have been
complied with.

AUDITOR REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the external auditor of the
Company, Pricewaterhousecoopers, in respect of audit and non-
audit services provided to the Group during the Reporting
Period was analyzed below:

AABBYZEBMEBEHAHIBERERD
Bl E TN BREFHNETERTIE I T H MR

A

12 fix B SR B A 7 B 22 4R

ENRABREERMBEELHEAELERAE
RNAREN TR F RS THRELEERARF
R R EM A REZE2019F3A318 8
MEBETTIREFEAFL BUERITEZTERERN
EITEHMERN e EMEEEAERENER
EEEEST -

1% B4 6 B &

R BBR - Sh A R BIR G  B A RIER A
AR5 T 1R 7K 2 F) 1 A2 BOET 2B S L AR B At
MEHAZN EAOMESTET

Fees paid/
Service category RF5ER payable
et EHER
HK$
T
Audit services HiT R 2,000,000
Non-audit services (Note (i)) JEFE RS (M 5EG)) 2,647,000
4,647,000

Note: 5T

(i) The non-audit service provided to the Group included the
reporting accountant’s work in connection with the initial public
offering of the Company of HK$2,147,000.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Yau Chung Hang, the Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, has been appointed as the company secretary of the
Company since 9 March 2018.

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Yau has taken no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholder interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the

Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

RIGHT TO CALL A GENERAL MEETING
General meetings may be convened by the Directors on
requisition of shareholder(s) of the Company representing at
least 5% of the total voting rights of all the shareholders
having a
shareholder(s) who made the requisition (as the case may be)
pursuant to Sections 566 and 568 respectively of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of Laws of Hong Kong)
(the "Companies Ordinance”). Shareholders should follow the
requirements and procedures as set out in the Companies
Ordinance for convening a general meeting.

right to vote at general meetings or by such

PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL
MEETING

Pursuant to Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance,
shareholders representing at least 2.5% of the total voting
rights of all shareholders; or at least 50 shareholders (as the
case may be) who have a right to vote at the relevant annual
general meeting, may request to circulate a resolution to be
moved at an annual general meeting. Shareholders should
follow the requirements and procedures as set out in the
Companies Ordinance for circulating a resolution for annual
general meeting. Written request can be sent by post to the
Company’s registered office address at Room 2601, 26/F Wing
On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong or by
email at ir@chuo-auction.com.hk.
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PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE
BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries or requests to the
Company for putting forward any enquiries to the Board.
Contact details are as follows:

Address:  Room 2601, 26/F Wing On Centre, 111 Connaught
Road Central, Hong Kong (for the attention of the
Board of Directors)

Email: ir@chuo-auction.com.hk

Shareholders are also welcome to make enquiries via the online
enquiry form available on the Company’s website at
www.chuo-auction.com.hk.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must lodge their
questions together with their detailed contact information
(including full name, contact details and identification) for
prompt response from the Company if the Company deems
appropriate. Shareholders’
required by law.

information may be disclosed as

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS
The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue
with Shareholders and in particular, through annual general

meetings and other general meetings.

As adopted by special resolution passed on 13 September
2018, the new Articles has been adopted and became effective
on 26 September 2018. An up to date version of the Articles is
the website of the Company at
www.chuo-auction.com.hk and the website of the Stock
Exchange at www.hkex.com.hk.

also available on
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POLICIES RELATING TO SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has in place a shareholders’” communication
policy to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns are
appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to
ensure its effectiveness.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 31 December

2018 (the “Dividend Policy”) on payment of dividends. Details
are set out in Report of the Directors.

EEPRHEERERAFAZF—AFFERS

Corporate Governance Report
EER®RE

5 5 481 A B 3R

AR EE B BRI - AR A B
BRENERREE - ABEERE B AR
REAR -

ARTDN2018512 B31 8 3R IR 2 £ 40 AR
BERRBEREK]) -HBHNREFTEHRE -

45



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEEHE

The Board is pleased to present the Report of the Directors of
the year 2019 together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

The Group is a well-recognized auction house of Chinese and
Japanese artworks in Hong Kong and Japan. The Group
specialize in auctioneering a wide variety of artworks with
emphasis on Chinese and Japanese artworks, including Chinese
paintings and calligraphies, Chinese antiques and Japanese and
Chinese tea wares.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
operating segment is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Part of the business review as required under Schedule 5 of the
Companies Ordinance is included in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report on
pages 8 to 15 and such contents form part of this Report of
the Directors.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019
are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 74
of this annual report.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK2.0 cents per ordinary share, absorbing a total amount of
approximately HK$10,000,000, in respect of the year ended
31 March 2019 (the "Proposed Final Dividend”) (2018: Nil),
which is subject to the approval of the shareholders of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on Sunday, 1 September 2019 (the “2019
AGM"). The Proposed Final Dividend is expected to be paid on
Friday, 27 September 2019 to all shareholders whose names to
be appeared on the register of members of the Company on
Tuesday, 10 September 2019.

None of the shareholders of the Company entered into any
arrangement to waive or agree to waive any dividend.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted the Dividend Policy, which aims to
set out the principles and guidelines that the Company applies
to the declaration and distribution of dividends to the
Shareholders. The Company may by ordinary resolution declare
dividends as the Directors consider appropriate. The
determination to pay dividends will be based on the
Company's profits, cash flows, financial condition, capital
requirements and other conditions that the Board deems
relevant. No dividend shall be payable except out of the profits
or other distributable reserves of the Company available for
distribution. Except as otherwise provided by the Articles or the
rights attached to Shares or the terms of issue thereof, all
dividends shall be declared and paid according to the amounts
paid up on the Shares on which the dividend is paid. The
Company may pay dividends by any method that the Directors
consider appropriate.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed during
the following periods:

(i)  from Monday, 26 August 2019 to Sunday, 1 September
2019 (both days inclusive), for the purpose of determining
the right to attend and vote at the 2019 AGM. In order
to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2019 AGM,
unregistered holders of shares of the Company should
ensure that all transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates are lodged for registration with
the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Friday, 23 August 2019; and

(i) conditional on the passing of the resolution approving the
declaration of the Proposed Final Dividend at the 2019
AGM, from Friday, 6 September 2019 to Tuesday,
10 September 2019 (both days inclusive), for the purpose
of determining the entitlement to the Proposed Final
Dividend. In order to be qualified for the Proposed Final
Dividend (subject to the approval of the shareholders of
the Company at the 2019 AGM), unregistered holders of
shares of the Company should ensure that all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
are lodged for registration with the Company’s share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday,
5 September 2019.
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Report of the Directors

EERHE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The movements in the Group's property, plant and equipment
for the Reporting Period are set out in Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE ISSUANCE

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on the Listing Date, by issuing 96,520,000 ordinary
shares, with the offer price of HK$1.50 per Share (excluding
brokerage of 1%, SFC transaction levy of 0.0027%, Stock
Exchange trading fee of 0.005%), which raised net proceeds of
approximately HK$110.0 million after deduction of the
underwriting fees and commissions and estimated expenses
paid and payable by the Company arising from the Global
Offering (as defined in the Prospectus).

Pursuant to the Pre-IPO Investments (as defined in the
Prospectus), on 24 and 25 April 2018 (as the case may be), the
Company issued the Convertible Notes (as defined in the
Prospectus) to the respective Pre-IPO Investors (as defined in the
Prospectus), namely, Mr. Chan Sai Wai, Happy Capricorn Co.,
Limited, Paradise Global Limited, Mr. Tse Chung Shing, Mr.
Yang Jialin and Centurion Equity | Limited, with an aggregate
principal amount of approximately HK$38.8 million. The
investment cost per Share was approximately HK$1.36 per
Share. to the (i) “History,
Reorganization and Corporate Structure — Pre-IPO
Investments” of the Prospectus for summary of the principal
terms and conditions of the respective Convertible Notes; and
(ii) the paragraph headed “Use of Proceeds” of this Report of
the Directors for details on the application of the net proceeds
from the Convertible Notes by the Group during the Reporting
Period. The outstanding principal amount of the Convertible
Notes was automatically and mandatorily converted into
28,512,722 fully paid ordinary Shares on the Listing Date.

Please refer section headed

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
for the Reporting Period are set out in Note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DEBENTURES ISSUED

Save for the Convertible Notes, the Company did not have any
debentures in issue for the year ended 31 March 2019.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

During the Reporting Period, save for the subscription
agreement for the issue of the Convertible Notes, the
Convertible Notes and the Share Option Scheme as set out in
the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” of this Report of
the Directors, the Company did not enter into any other
equity-linked agreement,
agreement exist during the Reporting Period. Please refer to the
paragraphs headed “Share and “Share Option
Scheme” in this Report of the Directors and Notes 22 and 32

nor did any other equity-linked
Issuance”

to the consolidated financial statements for further information
about the subscription agreements for the issue of the
Convertible Notes, the Convertible Notes and the Share Option
Schemes.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Since the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2019, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed any listed securities of the Company.

sold or

RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 78 of this annual
report and Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 March 2019
calculated under Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622) amounted to approximately HK$60.4
million.

FOUR YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last four financial years is set out on pages 175
to 176 of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors
S W&

DIRECTORS

During the financial year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the
date of this annual report, this Report of the Directors were as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ando Shokei (Chairman)
Mrs. Ando Eri

Mr. Katsu Bunkai

Mr. Sun Hongyue

Mr. Yau Chung Hang

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Yang Yi Chung (Resigned on 14 May 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John

Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley

Mr. Chun Chi Man

Mr. Yang Yi Chung resigned on 14 May 2019 as non-executive
director of the company. Mr. Yang has confirmed that he has
no disagreement with the Board and nothing relating to the
affairs of the company needed to be brought to the attention
of the Shareholders.

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John, Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley and Mr.
Chun Chi Man are independent non-executive directors and
were appointed for an initial term of three years commencing
from 13 September 2018, which may be terminated by either
party giving not less than three months’ written notice. The
term of appointment shall be renewed and extended
automatically for successive term of one year upon expiry of the
then current term until terminated by either party giving not

less than three months’ written notice to the other.
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Report of the Directors

BEERE

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES MBAGIZES
Directors of the
subsidiaries as at
Name of Subsidiaries 31 March 2019
20195£3A318H
MEBAS&E MBASIES
Tokyo Chuo Auction Hongkong Company Limited Mr. Ando Shokei
RRFARNEETEBRRF &M T A
Tokyo Chuo Auction Co., Lid* (X E@HERPRAF -0 2 T 2) Mr. Ando Shokei
Mrs. Ando Eri
Mr. Katsu Bunkai
TR A
THREREIE &+
B8R E
Shanghai Shengjia Culture Development Co., Ltd Mr. Ando Shokei
FBEREXEERBR AR M S A
DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS EENRBEY

As at 31 March 2019, none of the Directors had a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is
not terminable within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

The Directors’ remuneration is determined with reference to the
remuneration of the comparable companies, the Directors’ time
contribution, duties and responsibilities and individual
performance as well as the results of the Group.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of Directors and senior management are set
out on pages 16 to 25 of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors

EERHE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company pursuant to which they agreed to
act as executive Directors for an initial term of three years with
effect from 13 September 2018 which may be terminated by
either party by giving not less than three months’ written
notice. The term of service contract shall be renewed and
extended automatically for successive terms of one year upon
expiry of the then current term until terminated by either party
by giving not less than three months’ written notice.

During the term of the service contract, each of these executive
Directors is entitled to the basic salary (subject to an annual
increment after 1 April 2019 at the discretion of the Directors
of not more than 10% of the average annual salary for the 12
months immediately prior to such increase).

In addition, during the term of the service contract, each of the
executive Directors is also entitled to a discretionary
management bonus in such sum as the Board may in its
absolute discretion determine provided that the aggregate
amount of bonuses payable to all the executive Directors for
any financial year of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the
audited consolidated or combined net profit attributable to the
shareholders of the Company (after taxation and minority
interests
extraordinary or exceptional items) in respect of that financial
year of the Company. An executive Director may not vote on
any resolution of the Directors regarding the amount of
management bonus payable to him/her.

and payment of such bonuses but before

Pursuant to the service contract of Mr. Ando, the Group has
purchased two life insurance policies for Mr. Ando so as to
compensate the Group against losses resulting from the loss of
Mr. Ando as a key man to the Group during the term of the
insurance policies, and to serve as a life insurance for Mr. Ando
after the expiry thereof. Under the service contract, Mr. Ando
is entitled to all the benefits and payout under two life
insurance policies upon the expiry thereof.

Pursuant to the service contract of Mr. Sun, an apartment in
Japan will be provided for Mr. Sun as staff dormitory by the
Group, and Mr. Sun will bear half of the monthly rental of
such apartment.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yang Yi Chung has resigned as an non-executive Director
on 14 May 2019.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been
appointed for an initial term of three years commencing from
13 September 2018, which may be terminated by either party
giving not less than three months’ written notice. The term of
appointment shall be renewed and extended automatically for
successive term of one year upon expiry of the then current
term until terminated by either party giving not less than three
months’ written notice to the other. The appointments are
subject to the provisions of the Articles with regard to vacation
of office of Directors, removal and retirement by rotation of
Directors. Each of the independent non-executive Directors is
entitled to a director’s fee of HK$240,000 per annum with
effect from the Listing Date. Save for directors’ fees, none of
the independent non-executive Directors is expected to receive
office as an

any other remuneration for

independent non-executive Director.

holding their

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out
in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements of the
Company. The remuneration of each of the three senior
the band below

management personnel fell within

HK$1,000,000.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

In accordance with the definition of section 469 of the
Companies Ordinance, the permitted indemnity provision in
relation to the director’s and officer’s liability insurance was in
force during the financial year ended 31 March 2019 and
remains in force as at the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director or his/her connected entity had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
Reporting Period or at any time during the Reporting Period.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and the transactions as
disclosed in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements,
no controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries has any contract of significance (including contract
of significance for the provision of services) with the Company
or its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management or administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
was entered into or subsisted during the Reporting Period.

ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE DIRECTORS TO
PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were there any arrangements to
which the Company, its holding company, or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries is a party that would enable
the directors or their respective spouse or children under 18
years of age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company or any other corporate

entity.

PENSION SCHEME

Details of the pension scheme of the Company are set out in
the paragraph headed “Pension Obligations” in Note 2.24(b) to
the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 13 September 2018. The purpose of the
Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to
selected participants who contribute to the success of the
Group's operations. All directors, employees, suppliers of goods
or services, customers, persons or entities that provide research,
development or other technological support to the Group,
shareholders of any member of the Group, advisers or
consultants of the Group and any other group or classes of
participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of
joint venture, business alliance or other business arrangement
and growth of the Group are eligible to participate in the Share
Option Scheme. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force
for a period of 10 years commencing on its adoption date. The
total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted by the
Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue on the Listing Date (the “General Scheme Limit”). As at
the date of this Report of the Directors, the total number of
Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme was
50,000,000 Shares, 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company. The Company may renew the General
Scheme Limit with shareholders’ approval provided that each
such renewal may not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at

representing

the date of the Shareholders’ approval. The maximum number
of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted by
the Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the Shares in
issue from time to time. Unless approved by the shareholders
of the Company, the total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) to each
participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company for the time being. An
option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from
the date of the offer of grant of the option. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of
an option. An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period
to be determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
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which period may commence on a day after the date upon
which the offer for the grant of options is made but shall end
in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of
the option, subject to the provisions for early termination
thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and
stated in the offer of the grant of options to a grantee, there
is no minimum period required under the Share Option Scheme
for the holding of an option before it can be exercised. The
subscription price for the Shares under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by the Directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of the offer of grant, which must be a business day; and
(i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant.
No share options have been granted, exercised or cancelled by
the Company under the Share Option Scheme since its
adoption and up to the date of this Report of the Directors.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN
THE SHARES

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2019,
other than a Director or chief executive of the Company whose
interests are disclosed under the sub-paragraph headed
"Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
company or any of its associated corporations” below, no other
persons had an interest or a short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (the
“SFO").

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OF
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2019, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

EEPRHEERERAFAZF—AFFERS
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Long positions in shares:

Name of Group

NN RS =RE

Approximate

member/ percentage of
associated Number of shares interest held in
Name corporation Nature of interest interested the Company
AEBEFREAT BEERZ BORKATRE
=11 HEEEZE 2 fEadE BRHEE FHESESHT
(Note 1)
(Pi=E1)
Mr. Ando Shokei The Company Beneficial owner 374,967,278(L) 75%
ZREOME R A PN ExnlEB A
Mrs. Ando Eri The Company Interest of spouse 374,967,278(L) 75%
(Note 2)
THEELZ LT VNN fo B s (aE2)
Mr. Katsu Bunkai TCA Japan Beneficial owner 50 class A shares 5%
(Note 3) 5088 AFB % 10
B 8xAE TCAB AR EmEA A (M3)
Notes: B 5
1. The letter “L" denotes the Directors’ long position in the shares 1. FEILIRNKESR AR B SEBHEEZE

of the Company or the relevant associated corporation.

2. Mrs. Ando Eri is the spouse of Mr. Ando Shokei. Under the SFO,
Mrs. Ando Eri is taken to be interested in the same number of
Shares in which Mr. Ando Shokei is interested.

3. These shares represent class A shares in TCA Japan held by Mr.
Katsu Bunkai. Shareholders of class A shares in TCA Japan do
not have any voting right at the general meeting of shareholders
of TCA Japan.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions
of the Company or any of
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

in any shares, underlying shares or

debentures its associated
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The customers under the art auction and related business
primarily include sellers who consign artworks to the Group for
the auctions and buyers who purchase artworks in the art
auctions. To the best knowledge of the Directors, the
customers under the segment are generally comprised of
artwork interested parties including artworks artists, masters,
collectors, art galleries and private

experts, merchants,

museums.

The suppliers mainly include sellers from whom the Group
purchase artworks as principal for the artwork sales segment,
property owners who provide venue for artwork preview
exhibition and art auction operation, suppliers of event
organization and accommodation booking services for the
artwork preview exhibition and art auction operation, suppliers
of photo-taking, printing and delivery services for the auction
catalogs, and suppliers of delivery services for the auctioned

artworks and security and insurance services.

The information of the customers and suppliers is as follows:
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Percentage of

the total income for
the year ended

31 March 2019
#E2019%3A318
IE S E AR WA
Bkt

Five largest customers REREP

The largest customer AR P

23.0%
6.7%

Percentage of the
total cost of sales
for the year ended
31 March 2019

& =2019%3A318
I FEEEEERE
Bt

AR ER

Five largest suppliers

RAHER

The largest suppliers
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80.1%

23.1%
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As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their
close associates or shareholders holding more than 5% of the
issued shares of the Company had any interest in the five
largest customers or five largest suppliers of the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the
ordinary course of business by the Group during the Reporting
Period are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report. The related party transactions
set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements
constitute connected transactions (as defined under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules) which are fully exempted from the
shareholders’ approval, review and all disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

annual

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company
and as far as the Directors are aware as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
minimum public float under the Listing Rules.

COMPETING BUSINESS

The compliance of the controlling shareholder of the Company
namely, Mr. Ando Shokei, of the non-competition undertakings
entered into in favour of the Company on 13 September 2018
is set out in the Corporate Governance Report.

Save for Bai Sheng, a company wholly owned by Mr. Ando
Shokei, the controlling shareholder of the Company, which was,
among others, engaged in the business of trading of antiques
and artworks in Japan prior to the year ended 31 March 2018
and will continue to sell its artworks in the manner as disclosed
in the section headed “Continuing Connected Transaction —
Appointment of our Group as exclusive agent of Bai Sheng for
selling its artworks from time to time” of the Prospectus, none
of the Directors or the controlling shareholder of the Company
or their respective close associates are considered to be
interested in businesses which compete or are likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the core businesses
of the Group.
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EMPLOYEES

The number of employees as at 31 March 2019 is set out
under “Management Discussion and Analysis — Employees and
emolument policy” on page 15 of this annual report.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group did not
experience any strikes or significant labor disputes which
materially affected the operation of the Group. The Group
maintained good relationship with its employees.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 1 April 2019, the Company entered into a non-legally
binding memorandum of understanding with Mr. Chiu Hsin
Chun (Ef iR &) who is, as far as the Directors are aware after
having made all reasonable enquiries, is not a connected
person of the Company (“Independent Third Party”) within the
meaning of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), in
proposed acquisition by the Group in cash, 34% of the entire
issued shares in Mu Chun Tang Auction Co., Ltd.* (K& = A
= K D A B A 7)), a Taiwan-based auction house. The
transaction has not been completed yet up to the date of this
annual report and details of the transaction is set out in the
voluntary announcement of the Company dated 1 April 2019.

relation to the

On 1 June 2019, the Company entered into a share purchase
agreement with Mr. Yodo Hiroaki, an Independent Third Party,
in relation to the acquisition by the Company the 30 shares of
class A shares, represents 3% of the total number of shares, of
TCA Japan, a direct non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, which was purchased with an aggregate amount of
JPY21,014,557.

Other than the aforesaid events, the Group had no other
material subsequent events as at 31 March 2019.

EEPRHEERERAFAZF—AFFERS
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USE OF PROCEEDS

From the Global Offering

The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 11 October 2018 and the Company received
net proceeds (after deduction of underwriting commission and
related costs and expenses) from the global offering of
approximately HK$110.0 million. As at 31 March 2019, the
Company have partially utilized such proceeds in accordance
with the intended use of proceeds as disclosed in the
Prospectus. During the Reporting Period, the net proceeds had
been applied for as follows:

FrERIEA &

RERKEE

RN BB D F2018F10 A 11 BEB L AT EIR
EH AR REERREEMSRBFERLY
110.08 88T (EMNKREHEMAE A KA A
MEX) - B E201943A31H * ARARIB KR
BRERBPAEENMSREREAZE S
FRZEMSHIE - RJEHHE - FIBHREF
HEEEANT :

Amount Unutilised net
Actual net utilised as at proceeds as at
proceeds 31 March 2019 31 March 2019
1:2019%3A31H
BRI\ 12019%F3A318 i % Eh I Y
RIEFE B A EE FiBRIEF4E
(HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)
(BE&8ET) (B&#T) (A8
Strengthening and expanding M REFRERE
existing auction business ¥7% 62.7 1.7 61.0
Enhancing marketing and s & i R RS
promotional activities 22.0 0.9 211
Recruiting high caliber managers and HBESZEZHEE A
experts TREXR 8.8 — 8.8
Developing the Group’s ERP system — F3$ RNEBH %
BRHE R 5.5 — 5.5
Supplementing the Group's working  # 78 AN £ B /) & 18
capital and for general corporate B RIE—RAA
purposes R 11.0 — 11.0
110.0 2.6 107.4

As at the date of this annual report, the Company does not
anticipate any change to the above plan of use of proceeds.
The remaining unutilised net proceeds as at 31 March 2019 are
expected to be fully utilized on or before 31 March 2021.
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From the Issue of the Convertible Notes
Reference is made to the section headed
Reorganization and Corporate Structure —

“History,

Pre-IPO
Investments” of the Prospectus. The aggregate net proceeds
from the issue of the Convertible Notes (as defined in the

Report of the Directors
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Prospectus) was approximately HK$38.8 million.

During the Reporting Period, the net proceeds had been R¥REHIM W FISHBEFHECERAET !

applied for as follows:

Amount Unutilized net
Actual Net utilized as at proceeds as at
proceeds 31 March 2019 31 March 2019
1£2019%3A31H
BEIFE  1#2019%3A318 i K B A B9
RIEFE e A &E FiBREFHE
(HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)
(A&#ET) (B&#ET) (A&E#ET)
Fund the capital expenditures and REAREIRAEE
working capital of the Group LEERBE 38.8 5.0 33.8

As at the date of this annual report, the Company does not
anticipate any change to the above plan of use of proceeds.
The remaining unutilised net proceeds as at 31 March 2019 are
expected to be fully utilized in or around end of 2020.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last four financial
years are set out on pages 175 and 176 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. It comprises
three independent non-executive Directors namely Ms. Lam Suk
Ling Shirley (chairlady), Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John and Mr.
Chun Chi Man.

The audit committee has reviewed with the management of the
Group the accounting principles and standards adopted by the
Group, and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting matters including the review this annual report and
the audited annual financial results of the Group for the
Reporting Period.
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The consolidated financial statements of the Company which
are prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards for the year ended 31 March 2019 have been
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, the auditor of the
Company.

AUDITOR

The auditor of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2017 was Morison Heng CPA Limited (“Morison”) and Morison
resigned as the auditors of the Company with effect from
12 December 2017. PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as
auditor of the Company on 13 December 2017 and was re-
appointed as the auditor of the Company in 2018. The
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2019 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
A resolution for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers
as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 2019 AGM.

DONATIONS
During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group made

charitable donations in the amount of HK$1.5 million.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group is included in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements and such contents form part of this Report of the
Directors.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to environmental protection and values
corporate social responsibilities. The Group continues to update
internal policies and programs for environmental risk prevention
to ensure compliance with requirements of applicable industrial
and local standards, laws, regulations and policies. The Group
also continues to implement environmental protection, energy
reduction projects to improve
setting a solid foundation for

saving and emission

environmental management,

better future development.

ACCOUNT OF THE GROUP’S KEY

RELATIONSHIPS

(i) Employees
Employees are regarded as the most important and
valuable assets of the Group. The objective of the Group’s
human resource management is to reward and recognise
high-performing staff by providing a competitive
remuneration package and implementing a sound
performance appraisal system with appropriate incentives,
and to promote career development and progression by
offering appropriate training and providing opportunities
within the Group for career advancement.

(ii) Suppliers
Please refer to the paragraph headed “Major Customers
and Suppliers” in this Report of the Directors for details of
the suppliers of the Group. Sound relationships with
suppliers of the Group are important for the Group's
which can derive cost effectiveness and long
term business benefits.

business,

Customers

Please refer to the paragraph headed “Major Customers
and Suppliers” in this Report of the Directors for details of
the customers of the Group. The Group has the mission in
sourcing excellent artworks with good provenance to
explore and collect more valuable artworks for auction by

(iii)

its customer whilst maintaining long term profitability and
business growth. Various means have been taken to
strengthen the communications between customers and
the Group.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS #=pik@E R LR
For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group is in compliance & £201943A31H It FE  AEE D BT Y
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant ANEBRBEAHTEBEEATENEH LR

impact on the Group in all material respects. KA -

On behalf of the Board BFEEREK

Ando Shokei TR

Hong Kong, 27 June 2019 &% 0 20196 A27H
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

78 ST 1% B Bl 3R

_E
pwec

To the Shareholders of Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Tokyo Chuo Auction
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 74 to 174, which comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2019;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2019, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

and have been
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to revenue
recognition.

Key Audit Matter
P ST EIR

BERIELE
BHMERBEELSFMASEMN(ERET
ZANETERAN BRMEZFEYNTAENE
EREARRE [ BENFE S O B 5 R A
ERREIRo P IEE—FTB -

HAIHRGE BRAMESNETBERT R &E
S REMNETE R ER -

B
REBESHMAGRMCEXRSHEER
SSAD(TFRID - AT E5E - YERE
TTRlPEMEREE-

FEEER
BRESTEERBERMAOTZAE - RAY
AR BRROBHARAEENSEE &
HEERAERMBSLESHABRER R
AERBETREN - RATEEELFRE
HEBHER -

BPEZEFTEINEREFTSZTELAREK
ATER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRI EINMEEMARETEIE

Revenue recognition

L PN

Refer to notes 2.22 and 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.
E2Ha B wMERNT2.225%6 °

B
The Group recognised revenue from art auction and
related business of HK$147 million for the year ended
31 March 2019.
ESEEREE2019F3A3ALFEAEMRARER
MBAEBBERRAM7TBEEET -

We understood, evaluated and tested management’s key
internal controls over revenue recognition.

BME T8 5T KRR E IR E U0 B 2R &Y A 52 1 3B

We attended selected auctions held during the year to
check the hammer price of the auction sales on a
sample basis.

BPE2EFARLEETHELYNBESTRANREREHE

HSEHE(E -
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Key Audit Matter
&S EIR

Independent Auditor’s Report
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB ET AR EETEIE

We considered revenue recognition for art auction and
related business as a key audit matter as it is
significant to the consolidated income statement and
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
BB mHERMBEESO R AERR SE R
B FE BAREHAHBZREEHEEWAERM
EBEAN-

RRPRAEERARLA B AEFEHE

We checked the commission income from auctions and
other auction related income on a sample basis by
agreeing the hammer price to auctioneers’ record and
the commission rates for buyers and sellers to respective
invoices, bank receipts and other relevant evidence. We
checked the calculation of the commission income on a
sample basis by multiplying the hammer price with the
relevant commission rates for buyers and sellers.
BPAmES A REREN A WA REMAEHEK
AN AERBHERCHRESHEREZEE TN E
FHEZAMNBER R|RITWENREMEBRBREE TS -
BAAMBEA RN RERESWANGTE  FEAREEMRE
HEFETNHEBATERER-
We compared other commission income and other
auction related income such as service income from
catalogue preparation to the relevant invoices, bank
receipts and other relevant evidence on a sample basis.
BAFIA T 2 - S H B & YA T E b 48 = AR B A
(PIanmHEESFMEREBEBA) BEERESRE  RITHIER
Hi BB -

We tested completeness of the auction lots sold by
reconciling auctioneers’ records on auction lots sold to
items recorded in the sales register on a sample basis.
BRAMBEAR  SHEELCENEENEmLHIEHE
ZM RSN HE M OB E TR -

We found the sales transactions being tested were
supported by appropriate evidence.

BMERLAANHERZH ARG BN REMST

69



Independent Auditor’s Report
98 1% BUAD A

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other of the
information included in the annual report other than the
report

information comprises all
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
inconsistent with the consolidated financial
in the audit or

materially
statements or our knowledge obtained
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

70

His =2

BERAREFAYHMERAR - HMEE B
FHRANAEER  ETERRAHIVBHRRKL
AP B A BB

RMEAHRBRENER L TRE Aol
B BEATHZEE IS BRETHRY

DKy A
%nﬂ%u A ©

BEBRMUEHFMBRERNET  RANEE
BIEEMES  FHBERT  EEREMES
CHAHVBRRKXELMESFTEBRETP
THRNBEAFEEREBREUFFEEX
B8 SR R B 1B o

=

E
=

E

ERFTFEATH TN BREMBREME
BEEEAGERBRL RMATERSLFE
EETE RRBEMRE -

EERENZEERSHUBER
ARBENEE

ERREZAREREREEMASRM
WCE B B 75 3R 2 Al R & BCA R R B #
BEEMPENAHMBEHRE  THEARRD
FEHFTBRROBE N FEHRRFFE
RMERMNERBRRAMFTORNZSE

=5 ©°

ERBAHVBHRRE EFAENE R
BiEKENE N YEERBRTRE LR
BREBFHENER UREAHELLERE
At - BRIFEFTAER BEREBRAFLE
2 RBEEBERNERTR -

B
E'II_
H
0
23
\\\\
oft
i
iy

o

TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2019



AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists.

reasonable assurance about

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group'’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

RRPRAEERARLA B AEFEHE
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we

have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

72

Bk H = IES

HEERBAFECESTERMNKEN
e iR o IRIBPTEIRMESHERE - FE
ERFEEERABREBENEAN T E
EME - MAlReEHYE SEENFEL
ERNELEARE NREFMABSF
HEEATNEE I BIE 2% 2D HR
THRFEAEIZAHTBRRDE
HERE - REARHKETE - AT
EEZRRFERBEER HANERZ
ERNZBANRE A EANBHESERE
&AM RERFHESIFERAAUEENR &
SETRERELE -

TEAHVBRRNERIBIN &
BNAZR  BREEE  UNREHFHB®RE
REERERBBEISMER-

# EEREAERIERIHNMBE
BERAR  BENSETRE UEHSE
HUBREERZER - BMEBE B&H
BETRAM - EEMIT c BHMABRTE
RAEEEIEE-

BMEEFRBE SRR TS

MBFHELRKELHNEAEAERE &
BRMEFFTHINDABEFONTAEX
ERFE

BMEMEAZESRXEN  SHARMEN
EEBBYMEMERERER XY RBFER
Bt BB R RE R ERMIBILIEN M
BERRMEMER  UREERNERT @ 48
B O B 45 1 ©

TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2019



From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lee Kin Wah, Albert.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 June 2019
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

A = 2L
SHEZE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
H E2019F3A31HIEFE
2019 2018
20195 20184
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FE&ERT THB T
Revenue (' PN 6 166,091 173,266
Costs of services Bl 7 B AN 9 (34,668) (32,797)
Costs of sales of goods B m i E AR 9 (5.242) (8,150)
Gross profit ERH 126,181 132,319
Other losses, net H b E518 5 58 7 (4,043) (433)
Other income Hfth Uk A 8 1,836 2,568
Net impairment losses on financial & &t & 2 &l (B & 18
assets F R 9 (1,194) —
Selling and distribution expenses HE RS HEAX 9 (41,717) (26,765)
Administrative expenses THRHX 9 (66,075) (49,468)
Operating profit EERF 14,988 58,221
Finance income 81 s U A 10 582 10
Finance costs B 75 AR AR 10 (272) (249)
Finance income/(costs), net U (B A)
et 10 310 (239)
Profit before income tax k& Pt 15 %4 i itk F 15,298 57,982
Income tax expense Frig i 11 (6,677) (14,053)
Profit for the year EERF 8,621 43,929
Profit/(loss) attributable to: LT&FEGGH
(B518) :
Owners of the Company RKAREA A 8,632 44,063
Non-controlling interests FEFE R E = (11) (134)
8,621 43,929
Earnings per share for profit AAT R ANELER
attributable to owners of the FlsiREF
Company
Basic and diluted (HK cents) A K B 5E G l) HK1.99 cents HK11.75 cents
12 1.997% 1l 11.75%8 1

The above consolidated income statement should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

EHGENEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

B ZE2019F3A31R IEF &
2019 2018
20194 2018%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FHET
Profit for the year FEERM 8,621 43,929
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: Hih&GF & (B5E) WA :
Item that may be reclassified subsequently — H & ] BEE #7748 2 18 25 #Y
to profit or loss EH
Currency translation differences SNETE Z (1,872) 4,089
Total other comprehensive (loss)/ FEHBES (BHE) WA
income for the year, net of tax 4% MRBIIE (1,872) 4,089
Total comprehensive income for EEFEBWNER
the year 6,749 48,018
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for L T&FELEEEEZS
the year attributable to: W (B5i8) 4% -
Owners of the Company ZAN/NESTE? F SN 6,887 47,721
Non-controlling interests FE15 IR B & (138) 297
6,749 48,018

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

RRPRAEERARLA B AEFEHE

LAt GRS W et 7k 8 S8 P P 5 — BRI AE -
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
EHEERESR

AS AT 31 MARCH 2019

7201943 A31H
2019 2018
20195 20184
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 Fi#ET TH& T
ASSETS =f-3
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment Y WEREE 15 10,942 13,400
Intangible assets BEAE 590 558
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTISMEE 17 1 876
Deposits and prepayments e RIBMNFKIE 20 10,943 16,506
22,476 31,340
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 18 20,898 23,050
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E b fE W kI8 19 225,367 423,661
Deposits and prepayments e kB HIE 20 14,841 7,187
Tax recoverable AT W [ F¢ 18 10,599 —
Amount due from a related JiE I a B S B FR B
company 31 = 14,716
Pledged bank deposits BHERFRITER 21 20,300 —
Cash and cash equivalents BeMBREeEEY 21 236,522 70,382
528,527 538,996
Total assets HEE 551,003 570,336
EQUITY Exn
Equity attributable to owners KATIHEAANEL
of the Company i
Share capital g AR 22 169,730 —
Reserves 1 23 110,556 103,669
280,286 103,669
Non-controlling interests FEPERR S 6,602 6,740
Total equity gD 286,888 110,409
76
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Consolidated Balar]ce Sheet
EHEEAER

AS AT 31 MARCH 2019
2019 3H31H

2019 2018
20195 20184
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FiET TH T
LIABILITIES =K
Non-current liabilities EREBERE
Other payable H th &~ 5K 1B 25 6,884 6,149
Finance lease liabilities mMEMEAE 24 359 793
Borrowings (EE: 24 2,603 4,093
Deferred income tax liabilities RILFTEMAE 17 2,574 2,591
12,420 13,626
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables and B 5 & H Ath FE - 5/ 18
accruals NEEER 25 213,301 370,820
Amount due to the controlling JE 1-F 12 A% % 3R SR IE
shareholder 31 — 11,686
Amount due to a former director  JE{S H] &= E 1B 31 — 1,000
Finance lease liabilities mMEHEARR 24 422 467
Borrowings B 24 32,439 43,972
Current income tax liabilities EHFEHAaE 5,533 18,356
251,695 446,301
Total liabilities BfE8HE 264,115 459,927
Total equity and liabilities ERRBREEHE 551,003 570,336
The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in L& FHEAE B &3 FEEREWNMN T — & -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 74 to 174 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2019 and were

signed on its behalf.

Ando Shokei
RRREE
Director

EZ

RRPRAEERARLA B AEFEHE

FIAR1T4B 2 6 H P 5K MN2019F6 5271
EEEeMETHUTEERASZE -

Ando Eri
ZHREHE

Director

EFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
EHERZE IR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

B E2019F3A31H IEFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
EATHEBANEW
Share Other Non-
capital reserves Retained controlling
(Note 22) (Note 23) earnings Sub-total interests Total equity
[ Hib ki m
(BfaE22) (B zE23) REEA NGt FEIERRER WS
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET TERT FERT FET TERT FERT
Balance as at 1 April 2017 #20175F4A1HH
“6e — (5,864) 104,171 98,307 9,428 107,735
Comprehensive income HEWKA
— Profit/(loss) for the year — FEEHEAN
(E1#8) — — 44,063 44,063 (134) 43,929
Other comprehensive income  HftGZ& WA
— Currency translation — N E R
differences — 3,658 — 3,658 431 4,089
Total comprehensive income for EEHZAWANEE
the year — 3,658 44,063 47,721 297 48,018
Transaction with non-controlling ~ H2JF¥R 252 5
interests — — 816 816 (2,985) (2,169)
Deemed distribution to RAER R R DK
shareholders (Note 23) (Mf3£23) — (43,175) — (43,175) — (43,175)
Balance at 31 March 2018 #2018%E3H318 1
ek — (45,381) 149,050 103,669 6,740 110,409
Balance as at 1 April 2018 20185E4A1H M
ek = (45,381) 149,050 103,669 6,740 110,409
Comprehensive income/(loss)  &Z&UWN (E518)
— Profit/(loss) for the year — FEEAN
(E1#H) — — 8,632 8,632 (11) 8,621
Other comprehensive loss HitGEEHE
— Currency translation — NI EER
differences — (1,745) — (1,745) (127) (1,872)
Total comprehensive (loss)/ EEFEBER)
income for the year W& — (1,745) 8,632 6,887 (138) 6,749
Conversion of convertible notes ¥ A/ ZiE&E i A
to ordinary shares (Note 22) L m AR (P 5122) 42,726 — — 42,726 — 42,726
Issuance of ordinary shares BETEBEBERAR
relating to initial public offering,  ZE &/ T A
net of underwriting commissions ~ (F1f B8 H & &
and other issuance costs H MBI AR)
(Note 22) (P 5%22) 127,004 — = 127,004 — 127,004
Balance at 31 March 2019 $201943H318 8
Fg 169,730 (47,126) 157,682 280,286 6,602 286,888

(<]

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should it & Gf 4% 25 2 B 3K JfE ER BE B B 5% — G188
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

EHEERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

B ZE2019F3A31R IEF &
2019 2018
20194 2018%F
Note HK$000 HK$'000
k=3 FHET FHET
Cash flow from operating activities KEGREZHRLRE
Cash generated from/(used in) SRS
operations (FTA)R& 27 42,916 (102,164)
Income tax paid ERFEH (28,500) (10,096)
Net cash generated from/ HETERE
(used in) operating activities (FiR)A&FHE 14,416 (112,260)
Cash flow from investing activities BREETHZHRERE
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE BEX
equipment Bl (578) (5,341)
Purchase of intangible assets BERVAE (104) (28)
Placement of pledged bank deposits FHERBIEITFR (20,300) —
Investment in key management life TEBHEASRE
insurance contracts BHRE (814) (1,836)
Receipts upon termination of key BRIFFZEERBEAS
management life insurance contracts R & &8 PT I
IR 6,187 —
Decrease in short-term bank deposits %2 R 1T 17 FOR — 341
Repayment from a related company —H @A RIMER 14,716 —
Interest received 2 A B 582 10
Net cash used in investing activities {XZ&FEFFARSE
iR (311) (6,854)
Cash flow from financing activities RMETHZHRERE
Repayment of finance lease liabilities BERMEHEAE (455) (493)
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITERPATFRIE 31,788 42,354
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITEX (43,594) (24,704)
Interest paid B AT F & (453) (249)
Payment of listing expenses YR ETHEX (7,984) (1,049)
Transaction with non-controlling HIEERERR S
interests = (2,169)
Deemed distribution to shareholders RAEM IR R 5 Ik — (43,175)
Proceed from issuance of convertible BITABRRER
notes Fr 15 5018 38,800 —
Net proceeds from issuance of ordinary T‘ﬂﬁﬁ%%u’(@ﬁaﬂ
shares relating to initial public EME AR
offering ﬁfr 1FRIBFHE 137,145 —
Net cash generated from/(used in) MEEHRET
financing activities (FFA)BR&%8#E 155,247 (29,485)
79
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
BHBEEMNER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

B E2019F3HA31H L FE
2019 2018
20194 2018%F
Note HK$000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FHET FAET
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and HeRBEEEY
cash equivalents W, GRY) B8 169,352 (148,599)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning & #13R& MR &
of the year EEY 70,382 213,863
Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and cash R&NIREEEY
equivalents &5 (B8, W (3,212) 5118
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FXFEERRE
the year EED 21 236,522 70,382

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read L& 0FIR & it = 5K FE B2 BE P T 5 — OFBIRE -
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong.
The address of the Company’s registered office is Room
2601, 26/F, Wing on Centre, No. 111 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company’s subsidiaries principally engage in the provision
of auction and related services as well as artwork sales in
Hong Kong and Japan.

The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the *“Stock
Exchange”).

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
Dollar (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements are for the Group consisting of
the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”).

2.1 Basis of preparation
(a) Compliance with HKFRS and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRS") and requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance Cap. 622.

RRPRAEERARLA B AEFEHE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B O R AR I R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(b) Historical cost convention

The financial statements have been prepared
on a historical cost basis, as modified by the
revaluation of convertible notes carried at fair

value.

(c) New and amended standards adopted by

the Group

The Group has applied the following standards
and amendments for the first time for their
annual reporting period commencing 1 April

2018:

Amendments to
HKFRS 1 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKFRS 2

Amendments to
HKFRS 4

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

Amendments to
HKFRS 15

Amendments to
HKAS 40

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

82

Annual improvements
2014-2016 cycle

Classification and
measurement of share-based
payment transactions

Applying HKFRS 9 financial
instruments with HKFRS 4
insurance contracts

Financial instruments

Revenue from contracts with
customers
Clarifications to HKFRS 15

Transfers of investment
property

Foreign currency transactions
and advance consideration
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Notes to the

(c) New and amended standards adopted by (c)

the Group (Continued)

The Group had to change

its accounting

policies following the adoption of HKFRS 9 and

HKFRS

15. Most of the other amendments

listed above did not have any impact on the
amounts recognised in prior periods and are
not expected to significantly affect the current

or future periods.

(d)
adopted

New standards and interpretations not yet

(d)

The following are new and amended standards
have been issued but not effective for the
financial year beginning on 1 April 2018 and
have not been early adopted by the Group:

Consolidated Financial Statements

B OF B 75 ¥R R B R

FEETBREE (&)
21 GREE(E)

KRB TR 7] R AE155T
Al (&)
AEEARRAB WK RE
ERNFESR BB BREE
RIS KRB ST R -
EXCRRBIRER D B ERT AN
TEHERBRBRANSRE
g BRMTEHERN
AREEERERNTE -

I R IRA B9 R 5T FE R B 22 FE

T 5 ¥ 5] & £ 18 T 2 Bl X
2018F4 A 1A ABHIREE
EEMENARER  BAEE
IR P -

Effective for annual
periods beginning on
or after

RT3 B#sk 2 &%
BEEHRRER

Annual Improvements
Project (amendments)

FREBEEB (BRTA)

HKAS 19 (Amendments)

ARG ERE 195
(BFTA)
HKAS 28 (Amendments)

BB ZFER]FE285%
CHEN
HKFRS 9 (Amendments)

78 B 75 i 2RI SR 95
SCHEN)

Annual Improvements 2015-2017
Cycle

20155 220175 B H 6 F 8 U

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

FTEMER] - MR S4B

Long-term interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures
REERAREECE 2 RPAER

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation
BEEBHENENETSE

RRPRAEERARLA B AEFEHE

1 January 2019

20191 H1H
1 January 2019

20191 A1H

1 January 2019

2019FF1 A1 H

1 January 2019

2019FF1 A1 H
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Notes to the Consq[idated Financial Statements
& B B 7% e 3% B 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEE(E)
(d) New standards and interpretations not yet (d) [EHXRABIHFETERRZFE
adopted (Continued) (%)

FEEHBRME (&)

Effective for annual
periods beginning on

84

or after

RT3 BHskzERE

BEEHRRBER

HKFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019

BN GwELER HE 2019FF1 A1 H
251657

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2021

BN GwELER Rz a & 20211 A1 H
E179%

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

EE (BRI BE®RER
BZEg)— 28
235K

Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting
2018

20185 & B 7% ¥ 5 HO B
SAER

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

EEGHENEIRK
BB g5 £ B8

HKFRS 3 (Amendments)

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

FIT 1S 0 B2 38 /O 1S B 5E 1

Revised Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting

RIERT I B S eV LS AE 2R

Definition of Material

EANER

Definition of a Business

1 January 2019

20191 A1H

1 January 2020

2020F1A1H

1 January 2020
20201 H1H

1 January 2020

EARMBHRELAEIR EBKHOTHE 2020F1 A1H
CCHEN)
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28  Sale or Contribution of Assets Between Not yet determined by
(Amendments) an Investor and its Associate or Joint HKICPA
Venture
BB 5 S 2R KREEHRABE ARG ERELR MR RAEE
FI0RNEEES BEXEXIE

% QI %2857 (B 7T )
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)
(d) New standards and interpretations not yet

adopted (Continued)
HKFRS 16 “Lease”

Nature of change
HKFRS 16 was issued in May 2016. It will
result in almost all leases being recognised on
the balance sheet, as the distinction between
operating and finance leases is removed. Under
the new standard, an asset (the right-of-use
asset) and a financial liability (the lease liability)
to pay rentals are recognised on the
consolidated balance sheet. In the consolidated
income statement, rental expenses are not
recognised while amortisation arising from the
right-of-use assets and interest expense on the
liabilities are

lease recognised. The only

exceptions are short-term and low-value leases.

Impact

The standard will affect primarily the
accounting for the Group’s operating leases.
The Group’s current accounting policy for such
leases is set out in note 2.25. As at 31 March
2019, the Group had non-cancellable minimum
operating lease commitments of
HK$13,092,000 (Note 29(a)), which are not
reflected in the consolidated balance sheet.

Based on management’s assessment, the initial
adoption of HKFRS 16 in the future will not
result in any significant impact on the Group's
net financial position and results of operation,
notwithstanding the increase in right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities
financial statements. The adoption of HKFRS
16 would also not affect the Group’s total cash

flows in respect of the leases.

in the Group’s

RRPRAEERARLA B AEFEHE

2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consq[idated Financial Statements
& B B 7% e 3% B 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

2.2

86

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(d) New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted (Continued)
HKFRS 16 “Lease” (Continued)

Mandatory application date/date of adoption by
the Group

Mandatory for financial years commencing on
or after 1 January 2019. At this stage, the
Group does not intend to adopt the standard
before its effective date. The Group intends to
apply the simplified transition approach and will
not restate comparative amounts for the year
prior to first adoption.

There are no other standards that are not yet
effective and that would be expected to have a
material impact on the entity in the current or
future reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions.

Changes in accounting policies

This note explains the impact of the adoption of
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers on the
Group'’s financial statements.

(a) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS 39
that relate to the recognition, classification and
measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities,
instruments, impairment of financial assets and
hedge accounting.

derecognition of financial

2 FEEFHERMEF)

2.1

2.2

RBEE (E)
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
(a) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

The adoption of HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
from 1 April 2018 resulted in changes in
accounting policies. The new accounting
policies are set out in notes 2.11 and 2.14
below. In accordance with the transitional
provisions in HKFRS 9 (7.2.15), comparative
figures have not been restated.

However, the Group has reviewed its financial
assets and liabilities and assessed that the new
standard had no material impact on the
Group's financial assets and liabilities.

(i) Classification and measurement

On 1 April 2018 (the date of initial
application of HKFRS 9), the Group’s
management has assessed which business
models apply to the financial assets held
by the Group and has classified its
financial instruments into the appropriate
HKFRS 9 categories. There were no
changes to the classification and
measurement of financial instruments.

RRPRAEERARLA B AEFEHE

2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consq[idated Financial Statements
& B B 7% e 3% B 5

2

88

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
(a) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ir)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group’'s trade receivables, other
financial assets carried at amortised cost
and financial guarantees are subject to
HKFRS 9's new expected credit loss
model. The Group was required to revise
its impairment methodology under HKFRS
9 for each of these classes of assets.
While cash and cash equivalents are also
subject to the impairment requirements of
HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss
was immaterial. The new impairment
model requires the recognition of
impairment provisions based on expected
credit losses (“ECL") rather than only
incurred credit losses as is the case under
HKAS 39. The impact from the adoption
of the new impairment methodology is
immaterial to the financial position of the
Group as at 1 April 2018 and 31 March
2019.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables. The
adoption of the new impairment
methodology did not result in significant
increase in loss allowance for trade
receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& Gt B 1 R MY

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ESHHBEHE £)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 22 EFtBREER(E)
(a) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued) (a) BFEHMBHEEELEIF £/
TRI/#E)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) ZEEERE ()
Debt investments BERE
Debt investments at amortised cost are NEHEAATENER
considered to be low risk, and therefore REHRRBERR -
the impairment provision is determined as It R (B B 5 T A1 21E
12 months expected credit losses. The RAEHEEEBE - &KH
adoption of the new impairment FORE 77 0E W R 3E OB
methodology did not result in significant BEEEREEM -

increase in loss allowance.

(b) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with (b) EEHFREERFI155 K
Customers BEEESHBIKA ]
The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 Revenue AEBEB2018F4H1HRE K
from Contracts with Customers from 1 April T B TS s % R B 155%
2018 which resulted in changes in accounting [REFZEFPEHHKAL B
policies. In accordance with the transition BHBKREY RBEBFBUB
provisions in HKFRS 15, the Group has adopted A ERIE 155 BIE IR
the modified retrospective method. The impact REEKBETEWE -&#E
from the adoption of HKFRS 15 is immaterial 20195 3A31B L F & - &4
to the financial performance of the Group for BB B ImE R F 1558 EH A
the year ended 31 March 2019. SEMBRENETETTE

X o
2.3 Subsidiaries 23 MEBAT

2.3.1 Merger accounting for common control 23.1 £ EZFEHEIE HEE
combination
The consolidated financial statements EHMBERERBIEEITRRE
incorporate the financial statements of the HlEHaERAE BRI EBN
combining entities or businesses in which the BHE HMUOKSERERE
common control combination occurs as if they B EBERZES TS
had been combined from the date when the EHREER-

combining entities or businesses first came
under the control of the controlling party.

AR RAEERARAT s B AE TR 89



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRI E
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

20

POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued)
2.3.1 Merger accounting for common control

combination (Continued)

The net assets of the combining entities or
businesses are combined using the existing
book values from the controlling parties’
perspective. No amount is recognised in
consideration for goodwill or excess of
acquirers’ interest in the net fair value of
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over cost at the time of
common control combination, to the extent of
the continuation of the controlling party’s
interest.

The consolidated income statement includes
the results of each of the combining entities or
businesses from the earliest date presented or
since the date when the combining entities or
businesses first came under the common
control, where there is a shorter period,
regardless of the date of the common control
combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated
financial statements are presented as if the
entities or businesses had been combined at
the previous balance sheet date or when they
first came under common control, whichever is
shorter.

A uniform set of accounting policies is adopted
by those entities. All intra-group transactions,
balances and unrealised gains on transactions
between combining entities or businesses are
eliminated on consolidation.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.3.1 Merger accounting for common control

combination (Continued)

Transaction costs, including professional fees,
registration fees, costs of furnishing
information to shareholders, costs or losses
incurred in combining operations of the
previously separate businesses, etc., incurred in
relation to the common control combination
that is to be accounted for by using merger
accounting is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

2.3.2 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

Except for the Reorganisation, the Group
applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is
the fair values of the assets transferred, the
liabilities incurred and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset
or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net
assets.

RRPRAEERARLA B AEFEHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU BRI E
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

92

POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued)
2.3.2 Consolidation (Continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of
any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of
consideration transferred, non-controlling
interest recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of
a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in the consolidated income
statement.

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated. When necessary, amounts
reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to
conform with the Group’s accounting policies.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

2.3.3 Separate financial information

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at
cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a
dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the
subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared
or if the carrying amount of the investment in
the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Segment reporting

2.5

Operating segments are

reported in a manner

consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM"). The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating

segments, has been identified as executive directors
of the Group that makes strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$
which is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the

consolidated income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings and cash and bank balances are
presented in the consolidated
statement within ‘other losses, net’.

income
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Notes to the Consq[idated Financial Statements
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
Group entities (none of which has the currency
of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a
functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not
a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the
rate on the dates of the transactions);

and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are
comprehensive

recognised in other
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and

translated at the closing

differences arising are recognised

comprehensive income.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6

2.7

Investment in insurance contracts
The Group in certain key management
insurance contracts, which contain both investment

invests

and insurance elements. The life insurance contracts
are initially recognised at the amount of premium
paid, and subsequently measured at each balance
sheet date at its cash surrender value. Changes to
the cash surrender value at each balance sheet date
will be recognised in profit or loss as “other losses,
et”. In the event of death of the insured person,
the surrender of the policies, or the policies mature,
the investment will be derecognised and any
resulting gains/losses will be recognised in profit or
loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than freehold
land, are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also
include transfers from equity of any gains or losses
on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency

purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated income
statement during the financial period in which they

are incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EBREBE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.7 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 27 YE -BERREE)
Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation of KAERTHIWB|ITE - W W
property, plant and equipment is calculated using the EBREHENTE T REGEIER
straight-line method to allocate their costs to their FHUBREDEHKAE HF &
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as BE FTEWNOT:
follows:
Buildings 2%-4%
BF 2% E4%
Leasehold improvements Shorter of remaining period of the lease or
useful life of 5 years
HMEMEEE HEMMRTHRICFHRAIEAFHUARES
RYE)
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 20%
B BEEERRARE 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
"E 20%
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are BEZFABERAGTAFHRE
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of WMERARETRIERABR(NE
each reporting period. A) e
An asset’s carrying amount is written down WMEEREERREMFATRE 2
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s #FRBENREEINEHIEH
carrying amount is greater than its estimated A] 4 [ ¢ &8 (P 5£2.10) ©
recoverable amount (Note 2.10).
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by & W R BB S BB AT1E RE
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are NIEEREETEE  TREHER
recognised within “other losses, net” in the TH[HMEBBFEIANER -
consolidated income statements.
2.8 Construction in progress 28 EEIRE
Construction in progress represents buildings under ERIEEREEFHNEF EET
construction. Construction in progress is stated at BAKAE (B ERERREE RN D

926

cost, which includes costs of construction and other
costs directly attributable to the construction
capitalised during the construction period, less
accumulated impairment losses. No depreciation is
provided in respect of construction in progress until
such time as the relevant assets are completed and
ready for intended use. Upon completion, the costs
are transferred to property, plant and equipment
and depreciated in accordance with the policy stated
in Note 2.7.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9

Intangible assets
(a) Computer software
Computer software purchased from vendors are
initially shown at historical cost and
subsequently amortised over their estimated
useful lives, which does not exceed three

years.

(b) Club membership
Club membership is amortised over its useful
life of 20 years and is stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment loss.

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.11 Investments and other financial assets

(a) Classification
From 1 April 2018, the Group classifies its
financial assets in the following measurement
categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
(either through
comprehensive income (“OCI") or through
profit or loss), and

value other

° those to be measured at amortised cost.
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AU BRI E
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

928

POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

()

Classification (Continued)

The classification depends on the Group's
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss
or OCI. For investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when
and only when its
managing those assets changes.

business model for

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the

risks and rewards of

ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or
loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

()

(d)

(e)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other gains/(losses) together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in
the consolidated income statement.

Impairment

From 1 April 2018, the Group assesses on a
forward looking basis the expected credit losses
associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see note 3.2 for further details.

Accounting policies applied until 31 March
2018

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively,
but has elected not to restate comparative
information. As a result, the comparative
information provided continues to be
accounted for in accordance with the Group’s
previous accounting policy.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)
(e) Accounting policies applied until 31 March
2018 (Continued)
Until 31 March 2018 the Group classifies its
financial assets in the category of loans and

receivables. The classification determined on the
purpose for which the financial assets were

acquired. Management determined the
classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition.

(1)  Reclassification

The Group could choose to reclassify a
non-derivative trading financial asset out
of the held for trading category if the
financial asset was no longer held for the
purpose of selling it in the near term.
Financial assets other than loans and
receivables were permitted to be
reclassified out of the held for trading
category only in rare circumstances arising
from a single event that was unusual and
highly unlikely to recur in the near term.
In addition, the Group could choose to
reclassify financial assets that would meet
the definition of loans and receivables out
of the held for trading or available-for-
sale categories if the Group had the
intention and ability to hold these
financial assets for the foreseeable future
or until maturity at the date of
reclassification.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)
(e) Accounting policies applied until 31 March
2018 (Continued)

()

(1)

Reclassification (Continued)

Reclassifications were made at fair value
as of the reclassification date. Fair value
became the new cost or amortised cost as
applicable, and no reversals of fair value
gains or losses recorded before
reclassification date were subsequently
made. Effective interest rates for financial
assets reclassified to loans and receivables
and held-to-maturity categories were
determined at the reclassification date.
Further increases in estimates of cash
flows adjusted effective interest rates

prospectively.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement at initial recognition did
not change an adoption of HKFRS 9, see
description above.

Subsequent to the
loans and
amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

initial recognition,
receivables were carried at
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)
(e) Accounting policies applied until 31 March
2018 (Continued)

(iif)

Impairment

The Group assessed at the end of each
reporting period whether there was
objective evidence that a financial asset or
group of financial assets was impaired. A
financial asset or a group of financial
impaired and impairment
losses were incurred only if there was
objective evidence of impairment as a
result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset (a 'loss event’) and that loss
event (or events) had an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets
that could be reliably estimated. In the
case of equity investments classified as
significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the
security below its cost was considered an
indicator that the assets are impaired.

assets was

available-for-sale, a
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)
(e) Accounting policies applied until 31 March
2018 (Continued)

(iif)

Impairment (Continued)

Assets carried at amortised cost

For loans and receivables, the amount of
the loss was measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash
flows (excluding future credit losses that
had not been incurred) discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest
rate. The carrying amount of the asset
was reduced and the amount of the loss
was recognised in profit or loss. If a loan
or held-to-maturity investment had a
variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss was the
current effective interest rate determined
under
expedient,
impairment on
instrument’s
observable market price.

the contract.
the Group could measure
the basis of an
value wusing an

As a practical

fair

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of
the impairment loss decreased and the
decrease could be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was
recognised (such as an improvement in
the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of
the previously recognised impairment loss
was recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment testing of trade receivables is
described in note 3.2.

RRPRAEERARLA B AEFEHE

2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& Gt B 1 R MY

FEETHRBE (&)
21N REARAMEMEE (&)

(e) & FE2018%E3H31HERHE

FTEE (&)

(iii)  JR1E (&)
REEKAINENEE
HERRERKIEM
T EBESBEUZEE
MEEEEAESHEE
JRE B = Bh 38 &9 1 51
XK\ RE(TREER
EEXENAREESE) R
EMNEEHAE -BER
AETUAMNE BEd
HAIRBE R ER - K
AERKBFERHEE
HEZEFE  AFE
{ fo] 5% (B /&5 18 /9 B 3R &
BAEHNTHEEMNE R
ERME-VERAIITH
BEBRE AEEAF
AAEEmEFETLA
MAFERE -

i B E BB MR ER
Hi IR, A - e O A 1
BB AEEERRER
ZEMEFAR(MER
AMEEFARES) 8
RESEIBOD ZAE
MR AR EEE

B 5 I WK IR R B R B
PR BT TE3. 28 at -

103



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
XL

2

104

R 2 Bt 5t

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12

2.13

2.14

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the balance sheet when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must
not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in
the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
company or the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories represented artworks that
opportunistically purchased by the Group and are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of purchase of these artworks are determined
after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables represent commission receivables
and related services fees receivables that are due
from buyers and sellers as a result of the auctions
conducted by the Group. Trade receivables also
included those arising from direct artwork sales
conducted by the Group. The Group grants credit
period of 7 days for commission receivables and 30
days for receivables from artwork sales. Receivables
are generally due for settlement within credit periods
granted by the Group and are all classified as
current.

Upon completing the auction, the Group is obliged
to collect from the buyers the hammer price
amounts for artworks sold. Such receivables are
classified as “receivables from buyers in respect of
auction and related business” and due for
settlement within 7 days of recognition according to

the terms of the contracts with the buyers.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Trade and other receivables (Continued)

Other receivables that are realised as part of the
Group’s normal operating cycle are classified as
current assets even when they are not expected to
be realised within 12 months after the reporting
period. The operating cycle of an entity is the time
between the acquisition of assets for processing and
their realisation in the form of cash or cash
equivalents.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables
with the objective to collect the contractual cash
flows and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
See note 3.2 for a description of the Group's
impairment policies.

2.15 Cash and bank balances

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of
cash flows, cash and bank balances includes cash on
hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions,
other short-term, highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value.

2.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)
2.17 Trade and other payables

106

2.18

Trade payables represent obligations to pay for
services from suppliers in the ordinary course of
business and amounts due to sellers of artworks
purchased by the Group for trading purpose.

Upon completing the auction, the Group is required
to remit the hammer price amounts for artworks
sold to sellers upon receiving the corresponding
amounts from the buyer and such payables are
classified as “payables to sellers in respect of auction
and related business”. These unpaid balances as at
period end are unsecured and are usually paid
within 35 days upon receiving the hammer price
amount. Trade and other payables are presented as
current liabilities unless payment is not due within
12 months after the reporting period. They are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fees are
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent
there is no evidence that it is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down, the fees are
capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the end of the reporting period.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.20 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is
the tax payable on the current period’s taxable
income based on the applicable income tax rate for
each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax
assets and liabilities attributable to temporary

differences and to unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax
The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date
in the countries where the Company's
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation.
provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

laws enacted or

income.

It establishes
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ESHHBEHEE (£)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued) 220 EMAREEFRBH(£)
(b) Deferred income tax (b) BEFTIZH

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the BEFMSHAABREREER
liability method, on temporary differences BENREEERTBERERA
arising between the tax bases of assets and WEREHENEREZHER A
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the i WEEHEBEEEREFE
financial statements. However, deferred tax N FHER BTS2 EREL
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from MEEE WEEMGHEREE
the initial recognition of goodwill, and the BREREBEHUINZZH
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it WEEXBE mMRIKELD
arises from initial recognition of an asset or TR RERTIER - BIE
liability in a transaction other than a business EFTEH T AR - IREME
combination that at the time of the transaction MERAAEERREBEMEE
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or MR E(RBE)EE - &
loss. Deferred income tax is determined using HZERE (X)) EBBE
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or EFEHEEZERNELEMS
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date MEEBEERER -

and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is B IEEEEE R LB RK
probable that future taxable amounts will be ERBeRBABAZEERE
available to utilise those temporary differences BN EER TR -

and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not HRIINAEBIRE S RE(EHE
recognised for temporary differences between MEZHROERFERE  MAQ
the carrying amount and tax bases of &) B LA 2 I 5 s 22 2E Y 48 B B
investments in foreign operations where the M AREREZEBRE]RBERK
Company is able to control the timing of the ReJge~gHb - BT ®R
reversal of the temporary differences and it is REMBAGBGREE -

probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

(c) Offsetting (c) #HsH

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset BBIATE R MITEAGE BT
when there is a legally enforceable right to HEEEAEEE METEMH
offset current tax assets and liabilities and HAERER — B HIEEAE
when the deferred tax balances relate to the B BRI EERIBEEHRS
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and BRI EEBBEAETAINT
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a ENEHEE BB RFEEES
legally enforceable right to offset and intends BEHRAREREERFEAR
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the B BIEHHEEERENIER
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. R 8 -
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is more likely than not that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditure expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised
as interest expense.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a
present obligation arising from past events that is
not recognised because it is not probable that
outflow of economic resources will be required or
the amount of obligation cannot be measured
reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will
then be recognised as a provision.
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POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Revenue recognition

(a)

Commission revenue

The Group earns commission revenue from
both buyer and seller through the auction sales
in which the Group mainly acts as the role of
auctioneer as well as promoting the sales
through professional marketing techniques
provided. The commission revenue is calculated
as a percentage of the hammer price of the
artwork sold at the auction in accordance with
the contracts between the Group and the
buyer and the seller. The Group also recorded
revenue generated from private sales arranged
by the Group on behalf of the consignors. The
Group may act as an agent by matching the
needs of consignors to those of buyers by
private sales. In the Group collect
commissions which are determined through
negotiation with both buyers and sellers,
usually representing the difference between the
purchase price paid by the buyers and the
selling price as pre-agreed by the sellers and
the Group.

return,

The Group's entitlement to commission income
includes an element of consideration that is
variable or contingent on the outcome of
future events. Actual commission income to be
received is dependent upon, among others, the
completion of transaction between buyers and
sellers; and price concession based on
customary industry practice. Prior to the
adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group recognised
revenue upon the completion of the auction
sale as evidenced by the fall of auctioneer’s
hammer and when the collectability of the
related receivables from the buyer is reasonably
assured. For private sales, commission revenue
is recognised upon completion of the private
is high degree of
confidence that revenue will not be reversed in
a subsequent reporting period.

sale and when there

2
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(0

Commission revenue (Continued)

Under HKFRS 15, the Group is required to
estimate the amount of consideration to which
it will be entitled from the provision of auction
services and private sales. The estimated
amount of variable consideration will be
included in the transaction price only to the
extent that it is highly probable taking into
consideration of the risk of fallen through and
price concession based on customary industry
practice, in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will
not occur when the uncertainty associated with
the variable consideration is subsequently

that a significant reversal

resolved.

Revenue from other services relating to
auctions

In relation to the auctions organised, the
Group also earns other services income from
catalogue preparation, or insurance charged to
the sellers for artworks in preparation for and
placed in the auctions, and they are recognised
as revenue when the related services are

rendered.

Revenue from artwork sales
Revenue from sale of artworks is recognised
upon transferring control of goods to
customers, which generally coincides with the
time when the goods are delivered to
customers and title has passed.

2.23 Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (Continued)
2.24 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries,
non-monetary benefits and accumulating sick
leave that are expected to be settled wholly
within 12 months after the end of the period
in which the employees render the related
service are recognised in respect of employees’
services up to the end of the reporting period
and are measured at the amounts expected to
be paid when the liabilities are settled. The
liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations in the consolidated balance
sheet.

including

Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
the Group pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity. The Group
has no legal or constructive obligations to pay
further contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods. Employees of the

under which

Group are covered by various government-
sponsored defined contribution pension plans
under which the employees are entitled to a
monthly pension based on certain formulas.
The relevant government agencies are
responsible for the pension liability to these
retired employees. The Group contributes on a
monthly basis to these pension plans. Under
these plans, the Group has no obligation for
post-retirement beyond the
contributions made.

benefits

The contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.24 Employee benefits (Continued)

(c

(d)

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the balance sheet date.

Share-based compensation
The Group operates share option scheme under
which the Group receives services from
employees as consideration for equity
instruments of the Company.

The fair value of the employee services received
in exchange for the grant of the options is
recognised as an expense. The total amount to
be expensed is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options as at the date of
grant: (i) including any market performance
conditions; (ii) excluding the impact of any
service and non-market performance vesting
conditions (for example, profitability and sales
growth targets); and (iii) including the impact
of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the
requirement for employees to save or holding
shares for a specified period of time). Non-
market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that
are expected to vest. The total expense is
recognised over the vesting period, which is the
period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of
each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are
expected to vest based on the non-marketing
vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of
the revision to original estimates, if any, in the
consolidated income statement, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of
any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital.
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AU BRI E
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (Continued)

2.25

2.26

Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor) are charged to the consolidated income
statement on a straight-line basis over the period of
the lease.

The Group leases certain property, plant and
equipment. Leases of property, plant and equipment
where the Group has substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases.
Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s
commencement at the lower of the fair value of the
leased property and the present value of the
minimum lease payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability
and finance charges. The corresponding rental
obligations, net of finance charges, are included in
long-term payables. The
interest element of the finance cost is charged to
the consolidated income statement over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period. The property, plant and equipment
acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the
shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease
term.

other short-term and

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s Shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders or directors, where appropriate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.27 Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised at
fair value, which is determined by reference to fees
charged in an arm’s length transaction for similar
services, when such information is obtainable, or to
interest rate differentials, by comparing the actual
rates charged by lenders when the guarantee is
made available with the estimated rates that lenders
would have charged, had the guarantees not been
available, where reliable estimates of such
information can be made. Where consideration is
received or receivable for the issuance of the
guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to
that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount initially
recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit
or loss over the term of the guarantee as income
from financial guarantees issued.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial

risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and
cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management policy focuses on

the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimize potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

3.1 Market risk

(a)

(b)

116

Foreign exchange risk

The Company mainly operates in Hong Kong
and Japan with transactions mainly settled in
HK$ and Japanese Yen (“JPY"). Foreign
exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions or recognised assets or liabilities
are denominated in a currency that is not the
Group entity’s functional currency.

As the assets and liabilities of each company
within the Group are mainly denominated in
the respective company’s functional currency,
the directors are of the opinion that the
Group's volatility of its profits against
reasonably possible changes in exchange rates
of foreign currencies would not be significant.

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from bank
borrowings. The Group’s bank borrowings
which are carried at floating rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The
Group has not entered into any interest rate
swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate
risk.

As at 31 March 2019, if the interest rates on
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/
lower with all other variables held constant,
the profit before tax for the year would have
been approximately HK$343,000 lower/higher
(2018: HK$140,000 lower/higher), mainly as a
result of higher/lower interest expense on
floating-rate borrowings.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 Credit risk
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents,

bank deposits,

trade and other receivables and

amount due from a related company included in the

consolidated financial

statements represent the

Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation

to its financial assets.

The Company had given

guarantees to financial institutions in connection
with the banking facilities granted to its subsidiary
as set out in note 28, which would expose the
Group or the Company to credit risk. The objective
of the Group’s measures to manage credit risk is to
control potential exposure to recoverability problem.

(a)

Risk management
Cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits
were deposited in the major financial
institutions in Hong Kong, Japan, Taiwan and
the PRC, which the directors believe are of
high credit quality.

The Group established policies to ensure that
revenue from art auction and related business
and artwork sales are made to customers with
an appropriate credit history and the Group
assesses the credit worthiness and financial
strength of its customers as well as considering
prior transaction history with the customers
and volume of sales. Refer to Note 19 for
ageing analysis of trade receivables.
Management makes periodic collective
assessment as well as individual assessment on
the recoverability of trade and other receivables
based on historical payment records, the length
of the overdue period, the financial strength of
the debtors and whether there are any disputes
with the debtors. If the other receivables from
buyers in respect of auction and related
business has not been received, the Group is
not obligated to pay the corresponding other
payables to sellers in respect of auction and
related business. If the buyer defaults on
payment, the sale may be cancelled, and the
auction lots will be returned to the seller. Both
of the other receivables and other payables in
respect of auction and related business in
relation to such cancelled sales shall be
derecognised simultaneously. As such,
management believes the credit risk relating to
other receivables in respect of auction and
related business is not significant.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

(a)

Risk management (Continued)

For financial guarantee, the Group monitors
the risk that the specified debtor will default
on the contract and recognises a provision
when ECLs on the financial guarantees are
determined to be higher than its carrying
amount (i.e. the amount initially recognised,
less accumulated amortisation).

To determine ECLs, the Group considers
changes in the risk of default of the specified
debtor since the issuance of the guarantee. A
12-month ECL is measured unless the risk that
the specified debtor will default has increased
significantly since the guarantee is issued, in
which case a lifetime ECL is measured. As the
Group is required to make payments only in
the event of a default by the specified debtor
in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed, an ECL is estimated based
on the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any
amount that the Group expects to receive from
the holder of the guarantee, the specified
debtor or any other party. The amount is then
discounted using the current risk-free rate
adjusted for risks specific to the cash flows.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 Credit risk

(b)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group’s trade receivables and other
financial assets carried at amortised cost are
subject to the expected credit loss model.
While cash and cash equivalents are also
subject to the impairment requirements of
HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was
immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past
due.

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of sales over a period of 12
month before 31 March 2019 or 1 April 2018
respectively and the corresponding historical
credit losses experienced within this period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of
the customers to settle the receivables. The
Group has identified the GDP of the countries
in which it sells its goods and services to be
the most relevant factors, and accordingly
adjusts the historical loss rates based on
expected changes in these factors.
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MEBEERMER(E
3.2 EEERA)
(b) ZAEEHEE)
B 5 /W 3 ()
L - B 5 R IER 20196
3A318 # 5 18 & % 8 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
(b) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)
On that basis, the loss allowance as at
31 March 2019 was determined as follows for

trade receivables: T
Past due Past due Past due Past due
within 1t03 3to6 6 to 12 Past due
Current 30 days months months months over 1 year Total
R30BA MIEMEA M3F6A HeE12fEA Ba1E
BP &4 g B g i g B @zt

Expected loss rate EHEEE 0%-02%  0%-04%  0%-16%  0%-52% 0%-472%  0%-47.2%
Gross carrying amount FELE -2
— Trade receivables WHE(FET)
(HK$'000) 14,000 22,328 — 6,919 4,301 26 47,574
Loss allowance BREEE(TET)
(HK$'000) — 108 — — 420 12 540

RAFRETEHAEER

The impact from the adoption of the new

120

impairment methodology is immaterial to the
financial position of the Group as at 1 April
2018 and 31 March 2019.

Trade receivables are written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group, and a failure
to make contractual payments for a period of
greater than 360 days past due.

201854 1R }201953A31H
MBERANTEL FERX -

2 A TR H X I (O] B i 5H B
2 IR - &2 FEHEAR
Bl R B ER AR EL
AEBEHERGTE - AR
HB3E3608 ReEfEH & KT o
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

(b) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)
Impairment losses on trade receivables are

presented as net impairment losses within the

consolidated income statement. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are

credited against the same line item.

Other financial assets carried at amortised cost
are considered to low risk, and therefore the
impairment provision is determined as 12
months expected credit losses. The adoption of
the new impairment methodology did not
result in significant increase in loss allowance.

3.3 Liquidity risk

The Group monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's
liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash
to meet its operational needs while maintaining
sufficient headroom on its undrawn committed
borrowing facilities at all times so that the Group
does not breach borrowing limits or covenants
(where applicable) on any of its borrowing facilities.
The Group expects to fund the future cash flow
needs through internally generated cash flows from
operations, and borrowings from financial
institutions. Regarding other payables to sellers in
respect of auction and related business, the Group is
not obligated to pay the seller until the other
receivables from buyers in respect of auction and
related business are collected. If the buyer defaults
on payment, the sale may be cancelled, and the
auction lots will be returned to the seller, and both
of the other receivables and payables in respect of
auction and related business in relation to such
cancelled sales shall be derecognised simultaneously.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BATSEMRERR (&
3.3 Liquidity risk (Continued) 33 RBELEKE)

The table below analyses the Group’s financial TRARBREEHEERERA
liabilities that will be settled on a net basis into HFR R ZHEE N8R R
relevant maturity grouping based on the remaining IEZ B R R AR R W RN R B R F 5
period at each of the consolidated balance sheet HENESBRAGEMENS T - XA
dates to the respective contractual maturity dates. BENSBRITNRURBSRE -
The amounts disclosed in the table are the

contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Less than 1  Between 1  Between 2 Over 5
On demand year and 2 years and 5 years years Total
BEX OPR-F -E@E WELIE HBLE At

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TiER TER TiER TER TiER TR

As at 31 March 2019 12019%3A318
Trade and other payables ZHREMENRE
Finance lease liabilities and REREEARNE

interest payments W = 435 276 87 = 798
BITERRFEHE

210,315 — 6,884 — 217,199

Bank borrowings and

interest payments — 32,479 2,406 200 — 35,085
e 243,229 2,682 YAVA| e 253,082
As at 31 March 2018 1"2018%3A318
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMENRE 353,888 — — 6,149 360,037
Amounts due to the FERT R AR R IR
Controlling Shareholder 10,046 - — - 11,686
Amount due to a former ERAESERE
director 1,000 — — — — 1,000
Finance lease liabilities and REMEBERFE
interest payments E — 492 440 371 — 1,303
Bank borrowings and BITERRFEHE
interest payments — 44,090 1,496 2,656 — 48,242
2,640 408,516 1,936 3,027 6,149 422,268
3.4 Capital risk management 34 BEXEBER

AEEEEEARTERERNKER
BERENEE N  FEUABRBERER
HipFmhERHENE  ASER&
EEARBUARIEABRRER

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to enhance
shareholders’ value in long term.
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 B EEERE (&
3.4 Capital risk management (Continued) 34 EXEBER(ZF)

The Group’s monitors capital by regularly reviewing
the capital structure. As a part of this review, the
directors of the Company consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with the issued share
capital. The Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as total debts divided by total
capital. Total debts are calculated as total
borrowings and finance lease liabilities. Total capital
is calculated as “equity” as shown in the
consolidated balance sheet plus debts.

The gearing ratio at 31 March 2019 is as follows:

AEERETE BB EARRBRENA
EEER - FRZERNH—IR
ARRBEFEEREARARER
BITBRAERANER NEEKE
HEARREKNOREEHE MR
RREERN BTHBOHILEER
E AR K ER

HEEANEMAR K NEEFA
BEABHLREREER X
RBREBEERAREARTEMN
B -EBRABEREEREREEE
BEAE -REXNRAHEERRE
KA 5 IETR -

F20196F3A31HMEEABL R
LU

2019 2018

20195 20184

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#T THE T

Borrowings (Note 24) f& sk (M 7E24) 35,042 48,065

Finance lease liabilities (Note 24) mEMRE A & (M iE24) 781 1,260

Total debt (ER TS 35,823 49,325

Total capital 48 & 7K 322,711 159,734

Gearing ratio EEBERELE 11.1% 30.9%
123
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.5

3.6

Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group’s current
financial assets, including cash and cash equivalents,
short-term bank deposits, trade and other
receivables, deposits and amount due from a related
company and the Group’s current financial liabilities,
including trade and other payables, borrowings,
finance lease liabilities, amount due to the
Controlling Shareholder and amount due to a former
director, approximate their fair values due to their
short maturities.

Offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities
The following table presents the recognised financial

3

MEREERZ
3.5 AFEMEET

HRAEBERDHEREE(BRA
ERAEEY RBPRTER
B REMEWTIE  Ze REK
BB QR RIB) RAKRE RS & &

BE(BRES MEMEN IR -

t&

R BMEMERE BHERER
TRIR M FE AT E = 50R) A5 1R AE 1Y
MR MEREERAFEMES -

3.6

HHEsHEERSMAR

TR 25 20199 &20184F3 A31

instruments that are offset as at 31 March 2019 AEENEEREMIA -
and 2018.
Effects of offsetting on the balance sheet
REHEEARRNTE
Net amounts
Gross amounts  presented in
Gross set off in the the balance
amounts balance sheet sheet
REEEREETX EINEEAR
HE B aE BROFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ERT TERT TERT
As at 31 March 2019 2019%3A31H
Financial assets SHEE
Trade receivables Z 5 E WA 72,238 (24,441) 47,797
Total @t 72,238 (24,441) 47,797
Financial liabilities o =R
Payables to sellers in respect of FLHE MEMEH
auction and related business ENERHRE (221,967) 24,441 (197,526)
Total @t (221,967) 24,441 (197,526)
As at 31 March 2018 12018%3AH31H
Financial assets ERIEE
Trade receivables B 5N IE 110,192 (34,213) 75,979
Total @t 110,192 (34,213) 75,979
Financial liabilities o =R
Payables to sellers in respect of ~ FLHAE RIBBER
auction and related business e B RK A (382,248) 34,213 (348,035)
Total @zt (382,248) 34,213 (348,035)
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors
including expectation of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
outlined below.

4.1 Estimated useful lives and residual values of
property, plant and equipment
The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives, residual values and related depreciation
charges for the Group's property,
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
Management will revise the depreciation charges
where useful lives are different to that of previously
estimated, or
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may
differ from estimated useful lives and actual residual
values may differ from estimated residual values.
Periodic result in a change in
depreciable lives and residual values and therefore
depreciation expense in future periods.

plant and

it will write-off or write-down

review could

RRPRAEERARLA B AEFEHE
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.2

4.3

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated selling expenses.
based on the current market condition and the
historical experience of selling products of similar

These estimates are

nature. Write-downs of inventories are recorded
where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances
identification of write-downs requires the use of
judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying value of inventories and
write-downs of inventories in the period in which

such estimate has been changed. Management

may not be realised. The

reassesses these estimates at each balance sheet
date.

Current and deferred income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions.
determining the provision for income taxes in each
of these jurisdictions. There are transactions and
calculations during the ordinary course of business

Significant judgement is required in

for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the
income tax and deferred income tax provisions in the

period in which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are recognised
when management considers it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which
the temporary differences or tax losses can be
utilised. When the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the
recognition of deferred
taxation charges in the period
estimate is changed.

income tax assets and
in  which such

4 EXE5EsHRHEE)

4.2

4.3

FEZUEIEEE
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.4 Impairment of financial assets
The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs
used are disclosed in the tables in note 3.2.

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION
The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
the executive directors of the Group (“CODM") that make
strategic decisions. The CODM assesses the performance
of the operating segments based on a measure of gross
profit for the purpose of allocating resources.

The management has identified two operating segments

based on the types of revenues, namely (i) operation of
art auction and related business and (ii) artwork sales.

RRPRAEERARLA B AEFEHE
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The segment information provided to the CODM for the

years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

5

SEESR

RE 20194 20183 A31H IEEE -
ERFELERRENDBLERDAT -

Operation of

art auction
and related Artwork
business sales Total
ZEWmEX _
HEAXREE ENRHEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#IT Tt F#ET
Year ended £ =20194€3A8
31 March 2019 1B LLFE

Segment revenue from external KB INEEE P EY
customers 7 B UA 146,889 19,202 166,091
Costs of services/sales AR 75, 85 & AKX A (34,668) (5,242) (39,910)
Segment results TEPELE 112,221 13,960 126,181
Other losses, net HinE a8 558 (4,043)
Other income E bz A 1,836

Net impairment losses on financial TREERES
assets =Pk (1,194)
Selling and distribution expenses HE LD HAX (41,717)
Administrative expenses TR & (66,075)
Operating profit KERRM 14,988
Finance income, net B R W A F BR 310
Profit before income tax B FiT 15 Bt wii ik 15,298
Income tax expense PSR X (6,677)
Profit for the year EEimf 8,621
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B OB RER M A
5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 HEBEHEE)
Operation of
art auction
and related
~ business  Artwork sales Total
T HEE & _ ‘
HEEREE HEiTREES st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHE T T3 T THE T
Year ended # =201843A8
31 March 2018 1B ILLEE
Segment revenue from external REIINBE P
customers 7 & U A 164,596 8,670 173,266
Costs of services/sales AR 75,/ 85 & Ak A (32,797) (8,150) (40,947)
Segment results SEREELE 131,799 520 132,319
Other losses, net HEMEEFRE (433)
Other income H b 4 A 2,568
Selling and distribution expenses HE LD HMX (26,765)
Administrative expenses TR & (49,468)
Operating profit wERAM 58,221
Finance costs, net B 7% B AN 2 58 (239)
Profit before income tax B FiT 13 Bt wii ik 57,982
Income tax expense Fr 8 fiF 2 (14,053)
Profit for the year FEEiF 43,929
Revenue from external customers, by geographical area, is BB RSN RBILELBALR
as follows: T
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T THEIT
Hong Kong B 94,105 89,757
Japan AR 71,986 83,509
166,091 173,266
129
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BGOSR MY A
5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 SEB&EHRE)
Information on segment assets and segment liabilities of HRASENSHBEERBEEER
the Group are not reviewed by CODM for the purpose of WTRBEELERKRESTHUDEER
resource allocation and performance assessment nor RAZKRE NREEHEXTEEL
otherwise regularly provided to the CODM. As a result, no ERRE HUBEINDHEERDF
analysis of segment assets and segment liabilities is BEND -
presented.
Non-current assets, other than deferred income tax assets, i IE B B 2 5 R IER B & E GR
by geographical area are as follows: MEERIMNBT :
2019 2018
20194 2018%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Hong Kong BB 3,883 5,115
Japan SN 18,592 25,349
22,475 30,464
6 REVENUE 6 WA
2019 2018
2019%F 20184
HK$000 HK$'000
TFET FAT
Revenue from art auction and B miE MEBEBRA
related business 146,889 164,596
Artwork sales 47 5 3 19,202 8,670
166,091 173,266
All customers individually accounted for less than 10% of REE2019F3A31BLLFE - TERF
the Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2019 E RS R EBE KA L HR10% (20184 © 4
(2018: Same). [F) o
All revenue of the Group are recognised at a point in AEEMRMABRALDREREEER -
time.
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& GBS B R MY &
7 OTHER LOSSES, NET 7 HithE5iEFEHE
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET FAET
Exchange gain/(loss) bE 5 e (B 18) 138 (248)
Loss on disposal of property, plant  [HEWE - KFE k&L EEIE
and equipment, net FFR (98) (109)
Changes in cash surrender values of T EZEEBAZSRBRALHNR
key management life insurance TRREES
contracts 24 (76)
Changes in fair value of convertible 7] #1 i% = #& 1 F {5 &
notes (4,107) —
(4,043) (433)
8 OTHER INCOME 8 HittA
2019 2018
2019%F 20184
HK$000 HK$'000
T#&EXT FAT
Miscellaneous income (Note (i)) RN EIO)) 723 1,374
Others (Note (ii)) E A (B 7 Gi) ) 1,113 1,194
1,836 2,568
Note: B 7
(i) The amount mainly represented miscellaneous handling fees () ZFEEXEEEHAAESHRERTR

charged to customers during auctions in Japan.

(ii) Other income mainly represented bidding deposits forfeited (ii)

and penalties from the buyers.

EEPRHEERERAFAZF—AFFERS

WEHMEBRTEE -

Hit WA E2ERWERNBIRRES

R &R e
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AU BRI E
9 EXPENSES BY NATURE

132

9 RUHIASZHAX

2019 2018
20194 2018%F
HK$000 HK$'000
T#&ET FAT
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERAN 5,242 8,150
Rental and setup costs for auction HERTERGHEALREKE
and preview exhibition venues & 23,367 23,489
Catalogue expenses & % F < 9,722 8,660
Operating lease rentals in respect of YEHEMNKLEHER S
rented premises 7.756 6,143
Agency commissions REM2 2,528 2,230
Advertising and promotion expenses E&EREER K 9,181 6,121
Transportation BWEA 4,629 3,082
Travelling ERE X 5,803 4,486
Entertainment IRELE 3,811 1,759
Business hospitality R A 3,794 1,981
Bank charge RITWE 1,075 1,344
Consulting fee AR 5,190 1,580
Employee benefit expenses BTRAMAXZ(MHF13)
(Note 13) 31,891 24,111
Depreciation of property, plant and %% - BiE L& H T E
equipment (Note 15) (Mg7E15) 2,727 1,896
Amortisation of intangible assets BEEE®H 62 49
Provision for doubtful debts R AR (MHEE19)
(Note 19) = 527
Net impairment losses on financial EREEREBEEETRE
assets (Note 19) (Bfs£19) 1,194 —
Auditor’s remuneration 1% B %7 B
— Audit services — B R 2,000 180
— Non-audit services — JEEETIR 500 —
Listing expenses (Note) EFrAZ (M) 15,258 10,899
Others H1 13,166 10,493
Total costs of sales of goods, costs & mtHE KA ~ BRI A -
of services, net impairment losses CRHEEREEEFS -
on financial assets, selling and HERDHEAX RITH
distribution expenses and > 4 58
administrative expenses 148,896 117,180

Note:

For the year ended 31 March 2019,

auditor’s remuneration for non-audit services of HK$2,147,000

(2018: HK$2,268,000).

the amount included

W i

2,268,000/ 7T) ©
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AHPFBRERN T
10 FINANCE INCOME/(COSTS), NET 10 BAFRSUE N (R&K)iFHE
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHEIT FET
Finance income: EUR N
— Interest income on bank — RITEFERANERA
deposits 582 10
Finance costs: RN
— Interest expense on finance — MEHEEENBERAX
lease liabilities (24) (61)
— Interest expense on bank and — RITREME KA E
other borrowings il 2 (248) (188)
(272) (249)
Finance income/(costs), net BRI A (B A) F 58 310 (239)
11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11 FiRBRAX
The amounts of income tax expense charged to the Ra Mt Bm RIS 5 X FRIEHE
consolidated income statements represent
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Current income tax EHREH
— Hong Kong — BA 5,542 9,565
— Japan — BXK 260 2,973
Total current income tax B HI IS A2 RE 5,802 12,538
Deferred income tax (Note 17) EIEFTE R (KT 3E17) 875 1,515
Income tax expense FTiSfif X 6,677 14,053
133
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XL

1

134

INC
(a)

(b)

R 2 Bt 5t

OME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Hong Kong profits tax

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group is
eligible to nominate one Hong Kong incorporated
entity in the Group to be chargeable at the two
tiered profits tax rates, whereby profits tax will be
chargeable on the first HK$2 million of assessable
profits at 8.25% and assessable profits above this
threshold will be subject to a rate of 16.5%. Hong
Kong profits tax of other Hong Kong incorporated
entities in the Group has been provided for at the
rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits.
For the year ended 31 March 2018, Hong Kong
profits tax has been provided for at the rate of
16.5% on the estimated assessable profits.

Japan corporate income tax

Japan corporate income tax has been calculated on
the estimated assessable profit for the year ended
31 March 2019 at the rates of taxations prevailing in
Japan in which the Group operates. The Group is
subject to national corporate income tax, inhabitant
tax, and enterprise tax in Japan, which in aggregate,
resulted in effective statutory income tax rates of
approximately 34.6% for the year ended 31 March
2019 (2018: 34.8%).

11 FIS#EAX(E)

(a)

(b)

EEMNEH
HE201943A31BHLLEE - A&
EEERREAEE —EEBEM
BRI SRR BN
Bl B2E BB 2 EREE
) #5 128.25% M) B KB A B 3K+
M % ERMERS G B R
16 5% MM EHMATNR - REBEH
HESTMHRLEENESNER
BRI G 5T FE SR B85 A 1216.5% 1Y
iR B & - B £2018F3A318 1b
FE - BEMNESH BB ER
i 5% A1 4216.5 % B 5 B 4 o

BEATREH

HARAE 5B iR RE £201953
A318 IEF E (G5 ERBOE Fl ik B
NAEELESEREN) 2H1T
MEFE - EAAR AEEBEHHR
BXABMER BEREHEEDLZE
i B E2019F3A318 IEFE &
B EBREAEMBSHESANN A
34.6% (20184 : 34.8% ) °
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11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 11 FEBEXE)

REBEE  AEBRMAEHANENZ
from the theoretical amount that could arise using the HEAMNNRKAERAREGEHERBREN
weighted average tax rates applicable to profits of the MEEHBEFECEREE  FBH
consolidated entities during the respective years is as s ¢

The tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs

follows:

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAET
Profit before income tax B PT 15 4 B i 7 15,298 57,982
Tax calculated at a taxation rate of LA16.5% 1 E 5+ B &y Fi 18
16.5% 2,524 9,567
Difference arising from tax rate in TRBNEEEMENER
respect of other jurisdiction 230 2,133
Tax effect of: NTEEZMBEE
— Expenses not deductible for tax — AR A X
purpose 3,651 2,204
— Income not subject to income tax — BEBMMERZ
WA (35) (1)
— Tax losses not recognised — RERTIEEE 61 161
— Tax allowance and special deduction — %58 & 45 Rl K 30 (165) —
— Withholding tax on unremitted — AREL&ENzZENH
earnings (Note 17) (BF3E17) 15 265
— Under provision in prior years — BEFEBELIR 105 —
— Temporary difference not recognised —— & #E 52 H) & B = 8 178 24
— Others — Hfth 113 (300)
Income tax expense PGB F < 6,677 14,053
135
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12 EARNINGS PER SHARE 12 BikEF
(a) Basic earnings per share () BREXEF
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the BREXRRFIEE £20199F3 A31
profit attributable to the owners of the Company by BIEFE  ANAREA AEGRF
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in BRUAE 1T E BARA INAE T 15 BGT
issue during the year ended 31 March 2019. Ho
2019 2018
20194 2018%F
Net profit attributable to the owners A Q R A A JE(L
of the Company (HK$'000) Fom A (FAT) 8,632 44,063
Weighted average number of BT SR AR ey hn
ordinary shares in issue ("000) g (TR (M EE)
(Note) 433,544 374,967
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) &R EAZF GEL) 1.99 11.75
Note: Bt 7

136

On 11 October 2018, pursuant to a shareholders’
resolution, a bonus issue of 374,967,178 Shares were
allotted upon successful listing of the Company. The
weighted average number of shares for the purpose of
basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended
31 March 2019 and 2018 in connection with such bonus
shares issued has been retrospectively adjusted to the
beginning of the year.

MR2018F10A118 » RIE— B R RZ
28 ' 374,967, 178/R AT AR BT AN A B K,
T Em R - piEt B H E2019F &
2018F3A3TB EFEZSE BITAR
B IR R K S B A 2 AR A AN 5
HERFYIELBMAE -
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12 EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

(b)

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. The Company has no
dilutive potential ordinary shares during the year
ended 31 March 2018 and accordingly the diluted
earnings per share equals basic earnings per share.
For the year ended 31 March 2019, the potential
ordinary shares arising from convertible notes were
not included in the calculation of dilutive loss per
share, as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.
Accordingly, diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31 March 2019 is same as basic earnings per
share.

13 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OF B 75 ¥R R B R

12 BREF (F)
(b) BREFERT

BREBRFTDEBARREDEIN
BEBRIMEFIEARRKAEE
THBELTRREEERMTE -1
B E2018F3A31HIEF E AR
AVEETEEEBAR  WEER
BERFEERETRELRRT - &
£2019F3A31B L FE - KRR A
BRREBENECSRARLESTAST
REEBEENTE BABB@A
B REE - Bk - BIE2019F3A31
HIEFENERESRINESNE
REXRRBF -

13 RERMAZX(BREEERER

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EEEWNSE)
EMOLUMENTS)
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Salaries, wages and bonuses Fe - LE ML 28,484 22,019
Pension, medical insurance and BRe  EERRBNEMW
other social insurances HERE 1,987 857
Staff welfare and other benefits BTEMNEHEAMF =
(Note (i) (B 3EG)) 1,420 1,235
31,891 24,111
Note: B 5E

The other benefits mainly comprise premium paid for key
management insurance contracts which the director will be
entitled to receive the benefits upon maturity of the
insurance contracts, which is after 12 months from
31 March 2019 (Note 25).

RRPRAEERARLA B AEFEHE

(i)

BT EnRATEEEERRE
WS HHNRE  ERERHEERR
B & #9 3 HA BE UK BX R 25 0 BD B20194F3
A318 #1218 A % (M 7525) °
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13 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S

138

EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(a)

Five highest paid individuals

13 EERFAX (BIEESRER
EEEMNSE)(E)

() EBEBEHF AL

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group include five (2018: one)
directors for the year ended 31 March 2019, and
their emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown
in Note 34(a). The emoluments paid and payable to
the remaining four individuals during the year ended

31 March 2018 are as follows:

B E2019F3A3IB L EE - A&
ERrsmes ALTBRERSA (2018
F:—B)EE HEMAME34@Q)
FTIRDiTHR R - REZE2018F3A
BNEEFE BENEREMSBTEA
AT ZHEMBT :

Salaries, wages and bonuses
Pension, medical insurance and
other social insurances

¥e - TERIEA
BiRE - BEARNM
Hipit @ RE

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’'000 HK$'000
F#ET FAET
— 4,710

— 376

— 5,086

The emoluments of these individuals fell within the

following bands:

ZEATHHFMNFIUATER

Number of individuals

A
2019 2018
20195 2018%F
Emoluments banks: FriMenE :
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000/ JT A T — 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ T &
1,500,000/ 7T — 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ L&
2,000,0007% JT B 1
— 4
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14

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'’S
EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(@) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2019, neither the
director nor other members of the five highest paid
individuals received any emoluments from the Group
as an inducement to join, upon joining the Group,
to leave the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.

DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company
or companies now comprising the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil).

On 27 June 2019, the directors have proposed a final
dividend of HK2.0 cents per ordinary share in respect of
the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil), amounting to
approximately HK$10,000,000 (2018: Nil), which is subject
to approval by the shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

This proposed dividend is not reflected as a dividend
payable in the financial statements, but will be reflected
as an appropriation of retained earnings for the year
ended 31 March 2019.

RRPRAEERARLA B AEFEHE

13

14
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B OF B 75 ¥R R B R

BEEEHAXZ(BEEERER
EREMNE)(Z)

(a) EEBEHAL(E)
B E2019F3A8318 EFE - &
FHEHMBARESHFALTHORER
i HR S 6% A ) S BN AE A DD AR
SB RMAXREERER BERAASK
% Y 22 B =k R B A ME

KRB

RELE2019F3A8318 LFE » AR A
REAEEMNETNRARTERNHKE IR
BB (201845 : &) o

72019F6 H27H - EEEH & £20194F
3A3TBLEFERMREREGR L EAR2.0
7L (20184 : #&) + £ ¥849/4310,000,000
B0 (20184 « &) AR R AIRERA
AEEERFBFREHERHTSEE -

EEBREYERMERER R A EMK
B B# R AEHE2019F3831H [E4F
EEBREBAF -
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B OIS HRE W T
=
15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 ME -BERRE
Furniture,
fixtures and
Leasehold office Construction in
Freehold land Buildings  improvements equipment  Motor vehicles progress Total
Bk BERE
KAERELH BT WEWEXE REDLR b EEIR @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FAET TRT FAET TRT FAET TR
As at 1 April 2017 #20175£4B18
Cost A 500 4,756 4,161 1,768 2,487 1,200 14,872
Accumulated depreciation ZEE — (231) (3,79) (565) (738) — (5,330)
Net book amount EHFE 500 4,525 365 1,203 1,749 1,200 9,542
Year ended #HZE2018F3R
31 March 2018 JMELEE
Opening net book amount FREFE 500 4,525 365 1,203 1,749 1,200 9,542
Additions NE — 17 4,59 215 — 359 5,341
Transfer FEE - 1,070 508 — — (1,578) —
Disposals HE - (109) - — - — (109)
Depreciation (Note 9) e (Fi5k9) — (308) (848) (237) (503) — (1,896)
Exchange difference EREER 29 301 58 60 55 19 522
Closing net book amount FREEFE 529 5,650 4,679 1,241 1,301 — 13,400
As at 31 March 2018 #2018%3H318
Cost A 529 6,210 9,565 2,081 2,587 - 20,972
Accumulated depreciation ZEE — (560) (4,886) (840) (1,286) — (7,572)
Net book amount EHFE 529 5,650 4,679 1,241 1,301 - 13,400
140
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B OF B 75 ¥R R B R

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 YI¥ - BERREE)

(Continued)
Furniture,
fixtures and
Leasehold office
Freehold land Buildings improvements equipment Motor vehicles Total
R BERE
KAEEL BF HEPERE RELRE RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET FTERT FHET FTERT FHET
As at 1 April 2018 #20184R 18
Cost A 529 6,210 9,565 2,081 2,587 20,972
Accumulated depreciation 2t E = (560) (4,886) (840) (1,286) (7,572)
Net book amount REFE 529 5,650 4,679 1,241 1,301 13,400
Year ended # £2019%3A318
31 March 2019 LEE
Opening net book amount FNERFE 529 5,650 4,679 1,241 1,301 13,400
Additions NE — — 278 300 — 578
Disposals & = = (85) (13) — (98)
Depreciation (Note 9) & (M) — (315) (1,659) (250) (503) (2,727)
Exchange difference EXES (10) (121) (32) (22) (26) 211)
Closing net book amount FRERFE 519 5,214 3,181 1,256 772 10,942
As at 31 March 2019 12019%3A318
Cost AR 519 6,085 8,503 2,283 2,549 19,939
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE = (871) (5,322) (1,027) (1,777) (8,997)
Net book amount REFE 519 5214 3,181 1,256 772 10,942

Motor vehicles includes the following amount where the

MAEEAREHEE (MiE24) FBEA

Group is a lessee under a finance lease (Note 24): B BIE T FIE
2019 2018
20194 20184F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Cost — capitalised finance lease KA — BREBMERE 1,959 2,587
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (1,196) (1,286)
763 1,301

Note: B 5E

All depreciation expenses have been charged to administrative

expenses for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

ERPRHEERAERAA

ZE-AEFERS

H E20194F K2018F3A31H IEFE - FrA T
ERXERTERAI AN -
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16 SUBSIDIARIES 16 Bt /B 25
The Group’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2019 R20193A318 - AEENETZEMEAR
are set out below. FEHG R
Place of

incorporation/
establishment Particulars of issued share Interest held by
Name (Note (i) Principal activities capital/registered capital The Company
directly indirectly

33 R A
£ 0 2 (B EEG) ) FTEER ERTRE GEMERER FATFEZER
EE %
Tokyo Chuo Auction Co., Ltd. Japan Provision of auction related Paid-in capital of JPY50,000,000 92% —
services and artwork sales
HRAGHERRPRA—V 3T B REMERBREREMNREE E # & 850,000,000 5 [l
Tokyo Chuo Auction Hongkong Hong Kong Provision of auction related Paid-in capital of HK$1 100% —
Company Limited services and artwork sales
RROARHBEEARERAA i RENEEAEARBRENREE BHFEXNET
Shanghai Shengjia Culture The PRC Promotion and related activities Paid-in capital of RMB361,680 — 92%
Development Co., Ltd
(Note (ii))
FEREXLBEREERAR HE HEREAED EHERANRE361,6807T
(B (i) )
Notes: B 5E
(i)  These subsidiaries principally operate in their places of () ZEMBRAREZZHEEFMAY AL
incorporation/establishment. B AS TS o
(i) This subsidiary is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise. (i ZMBARAAIIEBEERE-
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B OB RER M A
17 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND 17 BEFEHEEREGE
LIABILITIES
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when EAETEUNITENG T WE 2 E BT
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current SHEZHMEHEEERE  URER
income tax recoverable against current income tax RS HEEMNBBEER —HNBEARN
liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and ZERANEESITRERFEEHLZ
liabilities relate to income tax levied by the same taxation FIEBER MEERFIBELELEL
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable RIS - RGN EEHABERGEN -
entities where there is an intention to settle the balances HWEH BT ¢
on a net basis. The offset amounts are as follows:
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEIT THIT
Deferred income tax assets EIEFT SR & E 1 876
Deferred income tax liabilities RIS REE (2,575) (2,591)
(2,574) (1,715)
Movements in net deferred income tax (liabilities)/assets BELFBHR(AE), EEFENESN
are as follows: ™~
2019 2018
20194 20184F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEIT THE T
Beginning of the year F9) (1,715) (129)
Credited/(charged) to income R R A GNR)
statement (Note 11) (BFsE11) (875) (1,515)
Exchange differences ME X EFE 16 (71)
End of the year FR (2,574) (1,715)
Movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities BEMESMEERBEREE20199F3A
during the year ended 31 March 2019, without taking BNRIEFENEE (TEEER T A
into consideration the offsetting of balance within the ERERANEEAER) AT ¢
same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:
143
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& 0F B 75 3 2R B 5
17 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND 17 BEFBHEEREH(Z)
LIABILITIES (Continued)
Deferred income tax assets BEFSHEE
Property, plant
and Other payables
equipment Inventories and accruals Others Total
Y& BE HityEfFRIE
Rkt 5& REHER Hitr @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TET TET TERT
As at 1 April 2017 R2017F4 818 391 335 1,772 1,106 3,604
Credited/(charged) to income REHEETA

statement (18) 132 676 (1,566) 82 (676)
Exchange differences EXER 28 48 38 69 183
As at 31 March 2018 and 1 April M2018F3A318 Rk

2018 2018F4A1A8 551 1,059 244 1,257 3,111
Credited/(charged) to income REHKFA

statement (30k%) (450) (404) 65 (739) (1,528)
Exchange differences EXES (20) (30) (5) (40) (95)
As at 31 March 2019 #2019F3A431H 81 625 304 478 1,488

Deferred income tax liabilities BEFSEHAE
Key Withholding
management tax on
life insurance unremitted
contracts earnings Others Total
TEEEE KEHZEA
ASERBEL ZiEmH Hith st
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
As at 1 April 2017 201754 H1H 1,396 2,187 150 3,733
Charged to income statement REZFRNEG 268 265 306 839
Exchange differences X ER 92 139 23 254
As at 31 March 2018 and #2018%F3H318 &

1 April 2018 2018F481H 1,756 2,591 479 4,826
Charged to income statement RiEwm xR (1,452) 16 784 (652)
Exchange differences N ER (66) (52) 6 (112)
As at 31 March 2019 20194 3A31H 238 2,555 1,269 4,062
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17 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Continued)
Deferred income tax liabilities (Continued)
The Directors do not have an intention to distribute the
retained earnings of certain subsidiary of the Group such
that deferred income tax liabilities of HK$1.1 million
(2018: HK$1.1 million) have not been recognised for the
withholding tax and other taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings of the subsidiary. Unremitted
earnings totaled HK$21.9 million as at 31 March 2019
(2018: HK$22.2 million).

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets in
respect of losses of approximately HK$1,154,000 as at
31 March 2019 (2018: HK$1,119,000). Unrecognised tax
losses amounting to approximately HK$1,154,000 as at
31 March 2019 (2018: HK$619,000) will be subject to
expiry from 2023 to 2024 (2018: 2022 to 2023), while
the remaining balance as at 31 March 2018 can be
carried forward indefinitely.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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17 BEFGHEERAR(E)

EEFRBBEaRE#E)
EEEEDRASEE THEARARK
BAM Fp W EREINH LM E R A
BB W2 T FE AT A E A B B RE SR IE IE PR
SHEaEBI188BTL018F 1188
7S 70) ° 1201943 A31H » K E H & F
A EA219BEBT(2018F : 2228
BIL) °

201953 A31H  ASBE I EREELD
1,154,000 7T (20184 : 1,119,000/ JT)

RIBEIEFTIS T E E - R2019F3HA31H
B R T 3R B I8 5 18 491,154,000 T
(20184 : 619,000 JT) #% 72023F =
20244F F| HA(2018%F : 20224 %2023
&) MM2018F3A31H W& T & & Al

BREAGEHE -

18 INVENTORIES 18 HE
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Artwork Afy an 20,898 23,050

The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and
included in “costs of sales of goods” amounted to
approximately HK$5,242,000 for the year ended 31 March
2019 (2018: HK$8,150,000).

RRPRAEERARLA B AEFEHE

HZE2019F3A31B ILFE BR AKX
Wt ATERBEERAIZEERAL A
5,242,000 7C (20184 : 8,150,000/& JT) °
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19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

146

19 ESRHEMEWKRIE

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Trade receivables 5 EWFRIE 47,574 45,979
Less: loss allowances W B R R E (540) (202)
Trade receivables — net B 5 EWRIEFRE 47,034 45,777
Other receivables H th & W IR
— Receivables from buyers in — BB ERHBE RIEH
respect of auction and 5% A (M EEG) )
related business (Note (i) 150,187 338,395
— Consignor advance (Note (ii) — ZEAENFRIE
GEID)Y 23,917 15,151
— Input value-added tax — 7] Yy [0 3 TH I E T
recoverable 2,877 23,257
— Others — H b 1,352 1,081
Trade and other receivables B SN EH M EW R IE 225,367 423,661

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the fair value of trade
and other receivables of the Group approximated their
carrying amounts.

Note:

(i)

(ii)

Other receivables from buyers in respect of auction and
related business represent the purchase price of the
auction articles receivable on behalf of sellers.

Included in other receivables are advances of
HK$23,917,000 made to certain sellers as at 31 March
2019 (2018: HK$15,151,000) upon consignment of auction
articles to the Group. These advances are interest free
(2018: 1% per annum).

R20194F K2018%F3A31H ' "&EBE 5
N H fib jE U 5RTE /Y A - B B E BR T (B 48

“++

Eo

i 3%

(i)

(ii)

HiEWERNE REBERBEHIAER
REFERNOMEREEE -

201953 A31H &t A E th & 05X 1B /Y
8 f 3 1823,917,000% JT (20184 :
15,151,000 L) * ARAEEZFEHRE
mERE TERELHEBENKIE-
FEFRIB R B (20184 + FFK1% ) o

oy
%=
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& BT TS R T
19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19 BESRHEMBWRIE(E
(Continued)
As at 31 March 2019, the carrying amounts of trade and 2019F3A31H ' B 5 R E b U FKIA
other receivables are denominated in the following WEREENTIEE BB
currencies:
2019 2018
2019% 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FAET
HK$ BT 119,226 217,597
JPY H 106,086 206,064
Other H 55 —
225,367 423,661
The Group grants credit period of 7 days for commission AEEGRERASMBEL7IROEER -
receivables and 30 days for receivables from artwork sales. I B FE U EA 9T Gh 8H B SR IE M X H30K A
The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice = B - 020194 &201843A31H - &
date, before provision for impairment, as at 31 March SRERWHRIBENZEE R B ORE & # A
2019 and 2018, was as follows: HEREC DT T -
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FBT
— Within 30 days — 30k 23,828 21,597
— 1 to 3 months — 1E31E A 12,500 —
— 3 to 6 months — 3%6(@ A 6,920 20,243
— 6 to 12 months — 6E121E A 4,301 2,667
— Over 1 year — 15U E 25 1,472
47,574 45,979
The Group does not hold any collateral as security over 20194 K&2018F3H31H * A& E I &
these debtors as at 31 March 2019 and 2018. REEMERRIERZSEBANER -
147
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19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Movements of the Group’s provision for impairment of

19 ESRHEMBKRIEGE)

AEEESRUHEREREESN

trade receivables are as follows: ™
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$000 HK$'000
TER FAET
At beginning of the year F1 202 198
Provision for doubtful debts R IR (MH5E9)
(Note 9) - 527
Increase in loss allowance BRI E R AL M
recognised 1,194 —
Write-off b (859) (512)
Exchange differences = 3 (11)
At end of the year FR 540 202
20 DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 20 RERAEMNRIE
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$000 HK$’'000
TER FAET
Current portion: MENEB S -
— Deposits and prepayments — ke KA RIEA 14,841 7,187
Non-current portion: FERBELD -
— Rental and other deposits — MHekAMES 4,380 4,236
— Key management life insurance — IEZEBEASRBEY
contracts (Note (i) (B 5EG)) 6,563 12,270
10,943 16,506
25,784 23,693

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the fair value of deposits
of the Group approximated their carrying amounts.

148
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20 DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued) 20 & RMEFERIE(E)

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the carrying amounts of 20194 K2018F3H31H A& EZ®
deposits and prepayments are denominated in the NMEBNRIENREOENL T EE BB

following currencies:

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
HK$ BT 14,930 13,833
JPY H 10,599 9,476
RMB AR 165 295
Others H 90 89
25,784 23,693
Note: B 7
(i) Key management life insurance contracts (i) EEZEEEBAESREEYH
Movements of the Group’s investment in key management AEBREIZEREASRBRENEKRE
life insurance contracts are as follows: REBMT :

2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAET
At beginning of the year F4) 12,270 9,858
Addition nNE 814 1,836

Receipts upon termination of key BIEFZEREASRE
management life insurance contracts B 4 BT U FR B (6,187) —

Changes in cash surrender value of key FTEZEMEASZRBAYD
management life insurance contracts ReRREEE 24 (76)
Exchange differences PE W =58 (358) 652
At end of the year FR 6,563 12,270
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21 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND 21 E#HR{ITERRIRE RIS E
CASH EQUIVALENTS E4

B4R 1T 17 SR E 18 T R IT U BB B

FAEE -—MBTRENGT Ko

20,300,000/ 7Tt (2018F : )W F R B

SRIE ARG B TIEROER Bl

WA REEE (M 529) -

Pledge bank deposits represent deposits pledged to a bank
to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.
Deposits amounting to HK$20,300,000 (2018: Nil) have
been pledged to secure short-term bank borrowings, and
are therefore classified as current assets (Note 29).

RehkAcFEVERSRRIBAES
ZEARERSHEOERRTER -

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash and short-term
bank deposits with an original maturity of three months
or less.

2019 2018

20195 20184

HK$000 HK$’000

T#&EX TBT

Cash at banks and on hand W hFERe 235,079 68,909
Deposits with maturity less than 316 A A E B89 17 3K

3 months 1,443 1,473

Total cash and cash equivalents HRekBeEEBYERE 236,522 70,382

The carrying amounts of the pledged bank deposits and
cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the

following currencies:

ERAFRTERERELREFEDH

BREENR NIEEEEL

2019 2018
20194 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FAET

HK$ BT 163,729 33,233
JPY H & 81,346 36,749
usb E 10,914 —
RMB AR 827 309
Others H1 6 91
256,822 70,382
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21 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND 21 E#fiFRITEMRERRERALE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) B4 (2
As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s bank balances of R2019F3A31H - KREBMIRITERD
approximately HK$273,000 (2018: HK$2,000) were 273,000/ 7T (20184 : 2,000/ 7T) E 7
deposited with a bank in the PRC. The remittance of RAE—FRT - KZEEELPEH
these funds out of the PRC is subject to the rules and 78 ¥ <7 R B K AT 28 2 H1NEE B I AR Bl &%
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by ERR e
the PRC government.
22 SHARE CAPITAL 22 X
Number of
shares Share capital
408 4= ;&S
HK$'000
FERT
Ordinary shares AR
Issued and fully paid: BEITRERE
As 1 April 2018 2018448 1H 100 —
Bonus issue (Note (i) KLRR 31T (H7220)) 374,967,178 —
Issuance of ordinary shares relating Bt & /X A B 3% & 317
to initial public offering, net of Tl HBReEHEAS R
underwriting commissions and HA 3% 17 AR (7 22 (ir) )
other issuance costs (Note (ii) 96,520,000 127,004
Conversion of convertible notes ERAARKRERREAER
to ordinary shares (Note (iii) (K7 &2 (i) ) 28,512,722 42,726
At 31 March 2019 2019%3A31H 500,000,000 169,730

Note:

B 2

(i) On 11 October 2018, a bonus issue of 374,967,178 shares
were allotted to Mr. Ando Shokei upon successful listing of
the Company.

RRPRAEERARLA B AEFEHE

(i) H2018%F10H11H » KA AKX EHiE
M B ST R TTAL AR 31T - WREEE
374,967,178/ i 17 °
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22 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

152

Note:

(ii)

(iii)

(Continued)

In October 2018, the Company issued 96,520,000 ordinary
shares at HK$1.50 per share, and raised gross proceeds of
approximately HK$144,780,000. The Company’s shares
were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited on 11 October 2018. The gross
proceeds, net of underwriting commissions and other
issuance costs, are capitalised as share capital accordingly.

Pursuant to a written resolution of the sole director of the
Company dated 24 April 2018, the Company entered into
agreements with six independent investors in relation to
their subscriptions of the Company’s convertible notes
totaling approximately HK$38,800,000. The outstanding
principal amount of these convertible notes shall be
automatically and mandatorily converted into fully paid
shares of the Company upon successful initial public
offering in recognised stock exchange according to a
formula prescribed in the subscription agreements. The
convertible notes bear interest at 1% per annum. The
convertible notes will mature upon 12 months from the
date of the subscription, subject to mutual agreement
between the independent investors and the Company to
extend for a further 12-month period. If the initial public
offering does not take place before the maturity date, the
Company shall redeem the outstanding amount of the
7% per
annum. The Company may redeem all of the outstanding

convertible notes with additional interest of
principal amount of the convertible notes with terms set
out in the subscription agreements on or at any time after
31 December 2018 until the maturity date.

All of the convertible notes were converted into
28,512,722 ordinary shares on 11 October 2018. The
principal amount of convertible notes and the cumulative
changes in fair value are capitalised as share capital
accordingly.

22 BRAE(E)

BaE - (&)

(ii)

(iii)

20185108 » AN 2 Al #Z § i%1.507% 7T
££1796,520,000/% /A% - EETE N
TE 4858 #7144,780,0007 7T ° A A A% 1D
MR2018F10A1MBREBEBBMERZME
BRARIER LM - B RIBAZRE (B
BReiHEfe R EMBETHRR)BLER

B B 8 A20185FE4 H248 2 AN R &) M

—EENEERER ARFAEANEE
UREETLHHE AREHRERE

N A £ 4938,800,00058 JT & AT 2 A%
ZRE - ZEAUBREENREELASHE
BRRABHER SR ERAREE
% RERBHBEAEEAX B KA
HE IR AR R BMERND - ATREREE
NEFE1%aFE - AT R ZE K B R
BEHHRERNREAZRIY ARBIEE
ERAQNARERBELERZ12EA ° f#
BRARBRETERIHBATET &
ARBEOARBEEENREESTE
SMEF)EBT%HF B o K22 & 7] A
£2018% 128318 & H sk 2 & &Y (£ fa] B
MEZZHAHE ZREHEHIH
BERERMEATRRZEAREERNS
B o

R2018F10811H ' B A R EEE
528,512,722 E @ % - A R ZiE
MASEN 2T ATFELELSENETS
N
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accounting is included as “merger reserve”, and computed
by comparing the considerations paid and the share capital

of the subsidiaries that merged into the Group.

(i) Amount mainly represented the consideration of JPY604.8 (ii)
million (equivalent to HK$43.2 million)
Company in acquiring TCA Japan during the year ended
31 March 2018, which was considered as deemed

distribution to shareholders.

EEPRHEERERAFAZF—AFFERS

paid by the

& 0 B 75 i R Y A
23 RESERVES 23 fi#im
Other reserves
Hibfm
Merger Currency
reserves translation Retained
(Note (i)) differences Sub-total earnings Total
B E s
(PR E£G)) WEE#E INeE REEN st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT TER TERT FHERT TER
At 1 April 2017 $2017#€4818 4,817 (10,681) (5,864) 104,171 98,307
Profit for the year 2 A — - - 44,063 44,063
Deemed distribution to BAER IR R 2R (BT 5% i) )

shareholders (Note (ii)) (43,175) — (43,175) — (43,175)
Transaction with non-controlling  HEIEZEBRERR H

interests — — — 816 816
Currency translation differences SN EERE — 3,658 3,658 — 3,658
At 31 March 2018 and 2018%3A31H &

1 April 2018 20184818 (38,358) (7,023) (45,381) 149,050 103,669
Profit for the year FERF — — — 8,632 8,632
Currency translation differences INEMBEE — (1,745) (1,745) — (1,745)
At 31 March 2019 $2019%3H31H8 (38,358) (8,768) (47,126) 157,682 110,556

Note: B 5
(i)  The consolidation difference that arises under merger (i) [AHEEITEEEAHIETESE

MAasER  TNEBLBREMNKEMG
AREENHBRRBRAMGHE -

CREEZREARAINE Z2018F3A31
HIFFEWRBTCAR AT K {E604.8
BEBEGEE N3 2888 T) Hi
RAEBRERBKRESIK °
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24 BORROWINGS AND FINANCE LEASE

154

24 EREMEHEERR

LIABILITIES
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Non-current FERE
Bank borrowings (Note (a)) R17 18 X (P 3E(@a) 2,603 4,093
Finance lease liabilities (Note (b)) BMmEAEEE(HiED) 359 793
2,962 4,886
Current E
Bank borrowings (Note (a)) RITE (M) 32,439 43,972
Finance lease liabilities (Note (b)) BEMHESE(FiE®D) 422 467
32,861 44,439
Total borrowings g 35,823 49,325
(a) Bank borrowings (a) ERITHER

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018,
borrowings are denominated in JPY.

all the bank

As at 31 March 2018, the Group's banking facilities
are guaranteed by (i) personal guarantees from Mr.
Ando, (i) corporate guarantee from a related party,
and (iii) third party corporate guarantee. The
personal guarantees provided by the Group’s director
were released in April and May 2018. Corporate
guarantee provided by a related company and third
party corporate were released in May 2018, May
2018 and April 2018 respectively.

The effective interest rates of bank borrowings as at
31 March 2019 were 0.3% to 0.8% per annum
(2018: 0.8% to 2.4% per annum).

These facilities are secured by certain bank deposits
with an aggregate amount of HK$20.3 million
(2018: nil) (Note 30).

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the fair value of
bank borrowings approximated their carrying
amounts.

E/\2019¢&2018¢3H31 B AR
1T1E A B B EEE L -

F2018F3H31H @ AN & B & iR 17
BMEARAODZBEEEEDOEAE
RGN FIELMARIER: &
(INE=FELH R ERTER -
HAEBESREHOBAEZERR
2018F4H M5 H R - A T??{%EE
BBt AR RE=H R alRME

A 2018458 ~ 2018454 &2018
FAR MR -

MR2019F3A31H BT EZTNE
B2 4 R R 50.3%%0.8% (20184
FF08%%E2.4%) °

ZEREH

(2018%F : )M A THRIT S
8 (B 3E30) ©

B R03BEE T
KA 1

20194 K2018F3 A31H @ R171E
FHAFEEERmMERES
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24 EREMEHRERRE

(a) ERATHER(E)
REBERERNRITERWT

24 BORROWINGS AND FINANCE LEASE
LIABILITIES (Continued)
(@) Bank borrowings (Continued)
The Group’s bank borrowings are repayable as

follows:

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET BT
Within 1 year —F R 32,439 43,972
Between 1 and 2 years —FEMERN 2,403 1,462
Between 2 and 5 years MEERAFNRN 200 2,631
35,042 48,065

(b) Finance lease liabilities (b) RMEHEER

Gross finance lease liabilities — minimum lease

HMEHEEREE — RIEHEETS

payments &
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHET
No later than 1 year —F R 435 492
Later than 1 year and no later than —F & EKAFNR

5 years 363 811
798 1,303

Future finance charges on finance BMEMHEZRKFEE
leases 2R (17) (43)

Present value of financial lease MEMEREZHE
liabilities 781 1,260
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BGOSR MY A
24 BORROWINGS AND FINANCE LEASE 24 EREMEHEAEE
LIABILITIES (Continued)
(b) Finance lease liabilities (Continued) (b) BAEHEEEREE)
The present value of finance lease liabilities are as REHSEAEREWT :
follows:
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$000 HK$'000
TER FHET
No later than 1 year —F A 422 467
Later than 1 year and no later than —F#% K AFR
5 years 359 793
781 1,260
As at 31 March 2019, the finance leases are secured 2019F3A31H @AM EMRK
by the Group’s motor vehicles with carrying values of % B BR M {8 A763,000% 7T (2018
HK$763,000 (2018: HK$1,301,000) (Note 15). The % : 1,301,000/ 7T) (Mt 5E15) &9 )5
rights to the leased asset are reverted to the lessors EEF-MAEEBREEESE"
in the event of default of the lease liabilities by the AlffEEECBAgRETHAA
Group.
156
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OF B 75 ¥R R B R

25 BESREMEMSRIERESER

ACCRUALS
2019 2018
2019%F 20184
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Trade payables B 5 RENIIEA 5,467 4,637
Payables to sellers in respect of ENERME RHBER
auction and related business WA 197,526 348,035
Deposits received, other payables BiiEE - HMENRIER
and accruals fEETE R 17,192 24,297
220,185 376,969
Less: Non-current portion: B IEMENFR S
— Other payable — H A& 3RIB (6,884) (6,149)
Current portion Nk =) 213,301 370,820

Payables to sellers in respect of auction and related
business represent the purchase price of auction articles
payable to sellers less seller commissions and other
auction related receivable.

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, all financial trade and
other payables of the Group were non-interest bearing,
and their fair value approximate to their carrying amounts
due to their short maturities.

The non-current other payable represents the Group’s
obligation to pay for the employee benefits of a director
of the Group, which will be settled after 12 months from
the balance sheet date (Note 13).

RRPRAEERARLA B AEFEHE

ENEXAEMABEGRBEENE
RHEMBEERERAEREMBHEE
1 68 & U RROR -

R20194F 201843 A31H ' "&EBE A
cRMESMNEMEMNRELH RS MHA
REBPERE ALEAFEHEERE
BEE -

EmBEMENREEAEERAER

EEXNRERAMMNELT EENEE
B AE1208 A R A& R (B EE13)
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& BB R MY 5
25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 25 BSREMEMRERETER
ACCRUALS (Continued) (&
The Group’s trade and other payables and accruals are AEEBSREMEMNKERETER
denominated in the following currencies: A TIIEEEEN -
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$000 HK$'000
TER FAET
HK$ 89,794 211,455
JPY 130,391 165,302
Others = 212
220,185 376,969

As at 31 March 2019, the ageing analysis of the trade
payables based on invoice date are as follows:

M2019F3A31H ERNBEZHHNE S

e R BRER DT AN T

2019 2018
20195 20184

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET TH& T

Within 30 days 30K 5,467 4,637
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26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 26 RENIIS»HEMTIAE

2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#ET FAET
Financial assets at amortised cost BEENAVNENESREE
— Trade and other receivables — B 5 N EMEWRIE 225,367 423,661
— Deposits — %% 11,096 4,236
— Amount due from a related — FEUEAHE A R FRIE
company — 14,716
— Pledged bank deposits — BEFRITER 20,300 —
— Cash and cash equivalents — BehREEED 236,522 70,382
493,285 512,995
Financial liabilities at amortised cost Tzﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁuﬁﬁﬁﬁi BER
— Trade and other payables B 5 & Hh e 5RIE 217,199 360,037
— Finance lease liabilities — rﬂéﬁ‘ﬁ =R 781 1,260
— Borrowings — & 35,042 48,065
— Amount due to the Controlling — BEATIERRAR RN
Shareholder = 11,686
— Amount due to a former — BRI ZEENIEA
director = 1,000
253,022 422,048
159
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27 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS

160

OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash

generated from/(used in) operations.

27 EHBEERERME

(a) BMRATEHANER ELEXBMRE/
(FrA)BREFEZHK -

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$000 HK$’'000
F#ET FAT
Profit before income tax R AT 1S A0 A & 7 15,298 57,982
Adjustments for: A TEIERE
— Depreciation of property, plant — ¥ BEREB
and equipment e 2,727 1,896
— Amortisation of intangible assets —— & & & # §H 62 49
— Changes in cash surrender values — FTEEIEEAFR
of key management life & HIE & RIR
insurance contracts BE# (24) 76
— Changes in fair value of — A MBREBATE
convertible notes & 4,107 —
— Loss on disposal of property, plant — HEWE - WE &
and equipment (Note (b)) REEBE
(Bt 3£ (b)) 98 109
— Interest income — F B WA (582) (10)
— Interest expenses — MERX 272 249
— Provision for bad and doubtful — RIBEEREE
debts = 527
— Net impairment losses on financial — € g & EREEIE
assets )&= 1,194 —
Changes in working capital: LEEEH:
— Inventories —FE 2,152 (9,292)
— Trade and other receivables — B 5 KEMEW
IR 197,097 (318,065)
— Deposits and prepayments Ze RIBAHKIE (10,015) (6,131)
— Trade and other payables and — B REMER
accruals HENIEFTE R (169,470) 170,446
Cash generated from/(used in) KEEBmE/(FTA)
operations " & 42,916 (102,164)
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27 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS 27 EHRERERMEE)
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds (b) RNEHBRERERT HEYWE -
from disposal of properties, plant and equipment WEREZEOESRIERRE :
comprise:

2019 2018

2019%F 20184

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Net book amount FREFE 98 109
Loss on disposal of property, plant ~ HEWE - BE MK&E

and equipment &8 (98) (109)

Proceeds from disposal & AT 1S WA = —

(c) Debt reconciliation () EBZHER
This section sets out an analysis of the movements 7N 0 & P E 22019938318 14
in total debt for the year ended 31 March 2019. ERERREEB DI -

2019 2018
20194 2018%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Borrowings — repayable within one £ — BER —F R
year B 32,861 44,439
Borrowings — repayable after one B — AR —F1&
year =9 2,962 4,886
Total debt B4R 35,823 49,325
Gross debt — fixed interest rates BEBL — BEME 781 34,727
Gross debt — variable interest rates #2{E % — F & F X 35,042 14,598
Total debt B 4aRR 35,823 49,325
161
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27 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS 27 EHRERERMEE
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(c) Debt reconciliation (Continued) () BEBZHER(E)

Liabilities from financing activities

REMETHER
Finance
lease due Finance Borrowings Borrowings
within lease due due within due after
1 year after 1 year 1 year 1 year Total

R—Fhs R-FE3
HimE HoME  R-Fh 0 R-F8&
HE B HHmER IHNER @t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FERT FER FET FERT FER

Total debt as at 1 April 2017 201754818 89
BHEE 507 1,191 21,708 6,304 29,710
Cash flows Beng (493) — 17,650 — 17,157
Reclassification ENMOE 436 (436) 2,498 (2,498) —
Foreign exchange adjustments HNEE 8 B 17 38 2,116 287 2,458
Total debt as at 31 March 2018 12018%3A318 %
and 1 April 2018 20185F4R1HH
BHEE 467 793 43,972 4,093 49,325
Cash flows Ben= (455) — (11,830) 24 (12,261)
Reclassification BEHAE 417 417) 1,403 (1,403) —
Foreign exchange adjustments HNEE B @ (17) (1,106) (111) (1,241)
Total debt as at 31 March 2019 201938318 8
EBEE 422 359 32,439 2,603 35,823
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28

29

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES
As at 31 March 2019, the Company had given guarantees
totaling approximately HK$20,300,000 (2018: Nil) to
financial institutions in connection with the banking
facilities granted to its subsidiary.

COMMITMENTS
(@) Operating lease commitments — the Group as
lessee

The Group leases various buildings under non-
cancellable operating lease agreements. The leases
have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal
rights. The future aggregate minimum lease payments

28

29

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OF B 75 ¥R R B R

MBiER

72019F3A310 AR AIERHEWNER
AIERRIRITRLE IR & $£4920,300,000
BT (2018F : B)MER T S BHE -

iR

(a) EEWERE — AKEEA®HE
A
AEEREBEIAIBHEECEHEDRZ
HAZEZT ZEFHEAETR
FH - FARIEKMEEERN - A7
BMHEEEHER THARKRREHEE

under non-cancellable operating leases are as NRBEBWAT :
follows:
2019 2018
20194 2018%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHET
No later than 1 year —F R 7,715 7,975
Later than 1 year and no later than —%F 1% KR FE R
2 years 5,377 7,104
Later than 2 years and no later than R F % K AF R
5 years — 2,324
13,092 17,403

One of the leased premises of the Group is
guaranteed by a related party, Bai Sheng Co., Ltd.,
on joint and several basis for the year ended 2018.
The guarantee was subsequently released in July
2018 with retrospective effect from April 2018.

RRPRAEERARLA B AEFEHE

HE018FILFE AEEMHES
—REEVMETEKAESLE B
(BB 5 ) AR R & Bl AR -
ZERHEBDR2018FE7ARE - X
H2018F4 8 BB MW EM -
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30 ASSETS PLEDGED AS SECURITY 30 EHEWFAERMEE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has REBERR AEBEEETF T EEN
pledged the following assets to secure certain borrowings ERETETAEENMEK:

granted to the Group:

As at 31 March

#W3H31H

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$'000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Pledged bank deposits EEFRITFR 20,300 —

20,300 —

31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31 FABARS
(a) Names and relationships with related parties (a) FABEH BBREAR
Related parties are those parties that have the ability BB s B e NDiEH] - HRES K
to control, jointly control or exert significant EHREHRBFEENIREEHES
influence over the other party in holding power over MMEATEZH: B2EEEHR
the investee; exposure, or rights, to variable returns B £ 75 1 A I B 2 (0] i /9 [ B Bk A
from its involvement with the investee; and the M BEERENIBEHRESRITEE
ability to use its power over the investee to affect BOMEEREEDNREENA
the amount of the investor’s returns. Parties are also T o fle X BR R R — 4% il 3k £t /] =
considered to be related if they are subject to Hll - IR AR A R

common control or joint control.
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31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(a)

Names and relationships with related parties
(Continued)

The following individuals and companies are related
parties of the Group that had balances and/or
transactions with the Group during the year ended

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& Gt B 1 R MY

31 MBEAR 5 (&)
(a) BB BWRMIE(E)
AT AT RA R AE & B BB

7R E R E 22019438318 1k
FEEAEBEEHREHETT

31 March 2019.

Name of related parties

BBt E &R

5

Relationship with the Group
HEAREE R

Mr. Ando Shokei
ZEEME K&

Mrs. Ando Eri
THEELZ L

Bai Sheng Co., Ltd.
KAEHAB

Mr. Katsu Bunkai

B 8xEE

Mr. Sun Hongyue

BB AXE

Mr. Feng Heqging (Note (i))
IR5 0980 5 A (B 3EG))

Mr. Yau Chung Hang

BB 1 37 % A

Mr. Yang Yi Chung (Note (ii))
15 #E 58 5% A4 (B aGii) )
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John
8B k4

Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley
ORI+

Mr. Chun Chi Man
FER%EE

Note:

Controlling Shareholder

PEAR AR 3R

Controlling Shareholder

IR AR R

Controlled by Mr. Ando Shokei

P 22 R O A 5 A AR A

Executive director

MITES

Executive director

BMITES

Key management of the Company
AARNERER

Executive director

MITES

Non-executive director

FRMITES

Independent non-executive director
BUFNTES

Independent non-executive director
BIIERITES

Independent non-executive director

BYFATES

B & -

(i) Mr. Feng Heging ceased to be a related party of the
Group since his resignation as executive director on
9 March 2018.

(i)  Mr. Yang has resigned as the Company's non-
executive director with effect from 14 May 2019.

RRPRAEERARLA B AEFEHE

(i) BAE L AL B HR2018F3/89H
BIHTESETEALASEH
Bty o

(i) BEEEBITARADAFHNITE
% H2019F5 148 B £ R ©
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& HF BT IS FR R I 5t
31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31
(Continued)

(b) Balance with related parties

BB X 5 ()

(b) R[5 BY &5 R

2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAET
Amount due from a related JiE W5 Bk~ B 5RIE
company
— Bai sheng Co., Ltd. — KXt E B — 14,716

As at 31 March 2018, balances due from a related
company were unsecured, bore interest at 1% per
annum, denominated in JPY, and repayable on
demand.

The maximum outstanding balance due from the
related company during the year ended 31 March
2018 and 2019 were HK$14,716,000.

20183 H318  fE U 8 Bt & &)
4 e A I 1% F R R &t
B -UHEFEIREZRERKEER-

#H 220184 K%20193A31H I &
B EBREBATINGES AEELS
£ /514,716,000 TT °

2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFE T
Amount due to the Controlling JFE 5 42 R B 3R RRTIR
Shareholder
— Mr. Ando — TEELE — 11,686
Amount due to a former director FE A E = 508
— Mr. Feng — BrE — 1,000

As at 31 March 2018, amount due to the
Controlling Shareholder include loan balance of
HK$10,046,000 which was unsecured, bore interest
at 1% per annum, denominated in HK$, and
repayable within 1 year. Remaining balances due to
the Controlling Shareholder and a former director
were unsecured, interest-free, denominated in HK$,
and repayable on demand.

166

#2018F3A31H « & = IR AR R
X IE B EE R4 $10,046,000%8
C HBEEE  R1%ER Rt
B TEHERER -—FRE
R TIENIERIR R RAIESL
BRAEER 28 UBTHER
BIRBERKEE-

Ml cm
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31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OF B 75 ¥R R B R

31 FBtAXS (E)

(b) Balance with related parties (Continued) (b)
The maximum outstanding balances due to the
Controlling Shareholder during the year ended
31 March 2018 and 2019 were HK$11,686,000.

The maximum outstanding balances due to the
former director during the year ended 31 March

2018 and 2019 were HK$1,000,000.

(c) Transactions with related parties

(c)

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the notes
to the consolidated financial statement, the Group
had the following transactions with related parties:

ERRE B H R & eR (2)

& =20184F X&2019%3A31H8 It F
B EBNZERREESREEER
/11,686,000 7T °

#H F20184 &201943A318 Ik &
B EBN— 2= kRkEBRE
£2 /1,000,0005% 7T, °

BB AR5

B & OF B 7% 2k B 5 E BB o5 P
BEN AEBEBABT 2SN
T~

2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAET
Auction commissions from a related [fEURAH S IAEH &
party
— Bai Sheng Co., Ltd. — KRASHLEB 189 614
— Mr. Sun Hongyue — BB/AEE 134 —
Agency commissions charged by a B WK A2
related party
— Bai Sheng Co., Ltd. — KX E B 65 784
Rental expense to a related party MBI X NHEERAX
— Bai Sheng Co., Ltd. — KAGHLEB — 64

All the related party transactions were conducted in
accordance with terms mutually agreed with related
parties and in the ordinary course of business.

RRPRAEERARLA B AEFEHE

P BREE 77 32 5 o iR ¥R B RE B 07 48
EMENBRRNEEXBBEDE

7 o
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AU BRI E
31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(d) Key management compensation
Key management includes directors and top
management. The compensation paid or payable to
key management for employee services is shown

31

Bt A X B (E)

FEEEEH M
TEEEEERRESFAGERER
HEEBRBEMENHENEE
EEENFHMI T

(d)

below:
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET TET
Wages and salaries IENH® 16,198 9,490
Bonus E4T 605 212
Pensions RIS 641 457
Staff welfare and other benefits BERBA R EMFZR 845 843
18,289 11,002

32 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

33

168

The Group has adopted the share option scheme on
13 September 2018 under which certain selected classes
of participants (including, among others, full-time
employees) may be granted options to subscribe for the
new shares. As of the date of this report, no share
options have been granted under the scheme.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
On 1 April 2019, the Company entered into a non-legally
binding memorandum of understanding with Mr. Chiu
Hsin Chun (EBFR{&) in relation to the proposed acquisition
by the Group in cash, 34% of the entire issued shares in
Mu Chun Tang Auction Co., Ltd.* (REZHE KD AR
‘A \]), a Taiwan-based auction house. The transaction has
not been completed yet up to the date of this report.

On 1 June 2019, the Company entered into a share
purchase agreement with Mr. Yodo Hiroaki, a non-
controlling interest of Tokyo Chuo Auction Co., Ltd.,
(“TCA Japan”) in relation to the acquisition by the
Company of 30 shares of class A shares, represents 3%
of the total number of shares of TCA Japan, which was
purchased with an aggregate amount of JPY21,014,557.

Other than the aforesaid events, the Group had no other
material subsequent events as at 31 March 2019.

32

33

A

7R £2 B 20189 A 138 £ 49 B8 A% 4% 5t
2Bl ETEBREERHNZ2EE (8
FREBEES)NNER FTHERENREN
B RARE B MERBZTEFED
E ] BB AR AE -

HEHBEER

M2019%F4 818 « A A &) 8 BB R & & &
FIVEEEHNRINBHBETRS IS
ERAASEEHNRWE—HaERE
TARAEEHERMDERARNEZHE &
TTRAM34% - Z R HEEAHE A H
TR °

M2019F6H1H A AR HEEREFR L
SR et RAPFRFT—D T
([TCABZA]) FEIE R #E =) 5] M AR 15 e B
W NEBBADFIAA 21,014,557
HIE/MEE S EWKBTCAR R30KALE %
3 (RRR1D R EHIZ3% °

B bt EIESN - AEBR2019F3A31H
WEEMEANERER-
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OF THE COMPANY

Balance sheet of the Company

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

XATEEAR/E

B OF B 75 ¥R R B R

34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 34 A A TSIZEBRBERREBEEH

As at 31 March

M®3A31H
2019 2018
20194 20184
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5 F#ET BT
ASSETS &E
Non-current assets EREEE
Investment in subsidiaries RHTBRAIHERE 45,344 45,344
Property, plant and equipment  #1% - = K& & 2,673 4,042
Deposits and prepayments Ee RIBEMHKIE 1,073 1,073
49,090 50,459
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 1,600 3,100
Trade and other receivables B 5N EMEWKIE 9,064 222,119
Deposits and prepayments %Re RIEMHIE 10,506 2,576
Amount due from a subsidiary &Y B A & FIA 23,811 3,232
Pledged bank deposits EEBRITFR 20,300 —
Cash and cash equivalents BHehREeFEEY 126,156 33,824
191,437 264,851
Total assets HEE 240,527 315,310
EQUITY i
Equity attributable to AASHEBANEGER
owners of the Company
Share capital % Zx 169,730 —
Reserves G 34(a) 60,430 80,975
Total equity R 230,160 80,975
169
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B O R AR I R

34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 34 ZAAGSIZEEEBRREEETH

170

OF THE COMPANY (Continued) (&
Balance sheet of the Company (Continued) XATEEEB/R(E)
As at 31 March
#®3H31H
2019 2018
20195 20184
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
B 5 F#T FHE T
LIABILITIES BfE
Non-current liabilities EREBETE
Finance lease liabilities mMEEEAE 14 184
Current liabilities REBE
Other payables and accruals H b & < 3038 % JE &
£H 4,705 211,410
Amounts due to a subsidiary JE < Bt B A R 3R IE 5,391 4,357
Amount due to the controlling  J& 1~ 2= I A% 58 31 18
shareholder — 11,686
Amount due to a former & ~F BT & = A
director - 1,000
Finance lease liabilities mEHEAEE 170 163
Current income tax liabilities EHGHaE 87 5,535
10,353 234,151
Total liabilities BEEE 10,367 234,335
Total equity and liabilities EnxREESEE 240,527 315,310
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the ARREEBEREHEZTEN2019F
Board of Directors on 27 June 2019 and was signed on its 6H27TEHL AN B TIESFREREE °
behalf.
Ando Shokei Ando Eri
Director Director
EE EE
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B ORI MR M aE

34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 34 A A TSIZEBRBERREBEEH

OF THE COMPANY (Continued) (%)
(a) Reserve movement of the Company (a) TATIEEED
Retained
earnings
REEF
HK$'000
FT#&EX
At 1 April 2017 $201754R18 43,338
Profit for the year FEm N 37,637
At 31 March 2018 $:2018%3A31H 80,975
Loss for the year FEEBE (20,545)
At 31 March 2019 $201943HA318 60,430

AP RHERRERAT s B AEEERE 171
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B OIS HRE W T

35 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS

172

(a)

Directors and chief executive’s emoluments
The remuneration of each director of the Company
paid/payable by the Group for the year ended
31 March 2019 are set out as follows:

35 EERMRFIE

() ESRERETHASHM
HE201943A31BHLLEE - A&
BB A AR RS E S/
AT -

Pension, medical

insurance, other

Salaries, social insurances
Director’s wages and and other
For the year ended fee bonuses benefits Total
BhE BER
e I&8%R B -HibHSRE
BELUTEHILEE EsEe e 4L R H thiEF st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TFHET FET FET FET
31 March 2019 2019%3H31H
Executive directors HITES
— Mr. Ando — HEEE — 7,879 946 8,825
— Mrs. Ando Eri — REEERE
Z+ = 2,748 117 2,865
— Mr. Katsu Bunkai — BEXBEE = 998 108 1,106
— Mr. Sun Hongyue — BRE A &S — 1,512 149 1,661
— Mr. Yau Chung kT
Hang 120 1,341 18 1,479
Non-executive directors FHITES
— Mr. Yang Yi Chung — BHELAE
(Note (ii)) (B 35 Gii) ) 120 = = 120
— Mr. Chung Kwok Mo — @SB S E
John 120 = = 120
— Ms. Lam Suk Ling — MRz
Shirley 120 = = 120
— Mr. Chun Chi Man — FAR%E 120 = = 120
600 14,478 1,338 16,416
31 March 2018 2018%3H31H
Executive directors HITES
— Mr. Ando — EETE — 5,506 941 6,447
— Mr. Feng (Note (i)) — BihA
(B 3EG0) ) — — — —
- 5,506 941 6,447
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35 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

(a) Directors and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)
The remuneration shown above represents

(b)

(c)

(d)

remuneration paid and payable by the Group for
these directors in their capacity as employees to the
Group and/or in their capacity as directors of the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2019. No
directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

Note:

(i) Mr. Feng has resigned as the Company’s director with
effect from 9 March 2018.

(i) Mr. Yang has resigned as the Company’s director with
effect from 14 May 2019.

Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year ended 31 March 2019, no
retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any
respect of their other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking (2018:
Nil).

directors in

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to directors as compensation
for early termination of the appointment during the
year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

No payment was made to third parties for making
available directors’ services during the year ended
31 March 2019 (2018: Nil).

RRPRAEERARLA B AEFEHE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OF B 75 ¥R R B R

35 EFEEARAG(E)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

EERERETHASHME)

EXFmEFHEZSESRESR
20196 3A3MB L FEUNAREEE
BHEMOE/XARRESFMHAARN
SEENRENNEWN - MEES
7 & £20199F K2018F3A31H IE
FEREIREREEMAME

i 2%

0) BRAXEEBETARIEE R
20183 H9H A&, »

(i) HELAEEBHTARAIEEH
20195 A14B B A %K -

ESENKEN

B E2019%3A31B L& E - E M
EEVUAREEARAR A BB REK
B AR EFTIR 8 B A AR TS &
3% & W BR {E ] iR K 48 F1 (2018
FIE)

ESHEERN

#H E2019F3A31H IEF & » I &
MEFXNERARER EZENH
B (20184 : &) -

RRUEEERBZOE=ZFEGH
K{E

#H E2019F3A31H IE F & © I &
HIBEHESRBRAE=FELEM
(20185 @ &) o
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35 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

174

(e)

(f)

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favor of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors

Save as disclosed in Note 30, there are no other
loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favor of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors during the
year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

There are no significant transactions, arrangements
and contracts in relation to the Company’s business
to which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year ended
31 March 2019 (2018: Nil).

35 EEEARAG (F)

(e) FARUES -FHAEFEHNTEE

()

BEREAHFAESHFAENEREST
DAWER EERRHEMBRKS
B BT 5E30FT B & SN - B E20194F
3AIEBLEFE TENES - B5H
EENXELsERBAEBRESHE
MEBAS=ANEMER - £E8
RREMR S (2018%F © ) -

EENXS REFEHHEKX
i

K 8 & £20199438318 I+ 46
ERERERA AQa S EERT
FAFRARBEBEMARTES
BERSHECEETRHEEERAERZ
BEERG wHKEH(Q018%F :
) o
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FOUR-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

0 <F B4 %5 8 =

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last four financial
years, as extracted from the published audited financial

statements.

The summary of the results of the Group of each of the three
years ended 31 March 2016, 2017 and 2018 have been
extracted from the Prospectus. No financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2015 have been published.

AEERBENBEMBRFRE 2 RENREE
BEEFEREEME  BEEC TELER
BTk o

AEBEE E2016%F « 20174 &2018F3A31H
FT=FHAFESEFNEEMENREERERE
2o AREEIW & E2015F3A318 IEF
EHMB®RE -

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS BMERE
2016 2017 2018 2019
20164 20174 20184 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
T35 7T T35 7T T35 7T FET
Revenue U 138,613 148,048 173,266 166,091
Gross profit ESAl! 97,296 107,168 132,319 126,181
Profit before income tax B PT 15 4 B i 7 30,223 41,004 57,982 15,298
Profit attributable to owners KABEA AEMG
of the Company s A 18,497 30,780 44,063 8,632
Total assets BEE 316,165 374,060 570,336 551,003
Total liabilities BEEBTE 241,090 266,325 459,927 264,115
Net Assets BEFHE 75,075 107,735 110,409 286,888
Equity attributable to: AT AT LR :
— Equity shareholders of the — ARRERKRR
Company 67,267 98,307 103,669 280,286
— Non-controlling interests — JEERER 7,808 9,428 6,740 6,602
75,075 107,735 110,409 286,888
Gross profit margin’ E = 70.2% 72.4% 76.4% 76.0%
Net profit margin2 fp ) 22 13.3% 20.8% 25.4% 5.2%
Current ratio? B bt &3 1.28 1.39 1.21 2.10
Net debt to equity ratio® FEEEAR X Net Cash Net Cash Net Cash = Net Cash
BeFE ReFHE ReFE BRE2FsaE
175
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Four-Year Financial Summary
PO 4F B 75 15 2

176

Gross profit margin is calculated by dividing gross profit by
revenue.

Net profit margin is calculated by dividing profit attributable to
owners of the Company by revenue.

Current ratio is calculated by dividing total current assets by total
current liabilities.

Net debt to equity ratio is calculated by dividing interest-bearing
liabilities less cash and cash equivalents by total equity.

EFELEFB A BEE -

f6 ) 5 DA 20 B A A A3 B DA M 3
B o
RBLEARDEAEEER A RD A &S
HEBHE
FABAAHEAGRARRRSRASS
B A IS BT -

#

G
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